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Independent auditor’s report
To the directors of CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (the “Group") set out on pages 4 to 184, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, and the consolidated statements of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for
each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and the six months ended 30 June 2025 (the “Relevant
Periods"), and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025 and of the Group's consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the Relevant Periods in accordance with the basis
of presentation and the basis of preparation set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") as issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to the fact that the financial information for the six months ended 30
June 2024 (the “Interim Comparative Information”) is unaudited.

Responsibilities of the directors and those also charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
which also include the Interim Comparative Information, that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements for the
Relevant Periods as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements(continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Restriction on distribution and use

These consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of preparation of financial information for
inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the listing of the shares of the Company on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and accordingly may not be suitable for another
purpose.

Our report is intended solely for the information and use by the directors of the Company and should not be
distributed to or used by parties other than the Company.

ZL.V_;.X«‘@/?

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
7 November 2025

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited



CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
Notes 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
REVENUE 5 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222,890 20,086,186 21,322,547
Cost of sales (26,963,139) (29,696,767) (35,380,773} (17,517,858) (18,780,024)
Gross profit 3,380,603 4,576,456 4,842,117 2,568,328 2,542,523
Other income and
gains 5 636,747 901,809 733,599 368,718 267,119
Selling and marketing
expenses (66,277) (86,695) {111,487) (60,134) {48,043)
Administrative
expenses (686,513) (999,693)  (1,156,8986) (570,950) (636,726)
Research and
development costs {929,164) (1,055,6886) (1,109,313) (450,535) (544,764)
Other expenses {112,843) (98,221) (188,393) {68,386) (238,587)
Finance costs 7 (538,914) {841,226)  (1,037,366) (495,398) (521,081)
Share of profits and
losses of:
Joint ventures 133 (17,951) 39,701 19,836 3,673
Associates (782) 2,008 10,582 (12,133) 2,939
PROFIT BEFORE
TAX 6 1,692,990 2,380,899 2,022,544 1,309,346 827,053
Income tax expense 10 (153,564) (280,410) (234,789} (153,514) {121,403)
PROFIT FOR THE
YEAR/PERIOD 1,539,426 2,100,489 1,787,755 1,155,832 705,650
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent 1,548,644 1,947,659 1,467,224 863,235 735,192
Non-controlling
interests (9,218) 152,930 320,531 292 597 (29,542)
1,539,426 2,100,489 1,787,755 1,155,832 705,650
EARNINGS PER
SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted
(RMB) 12 1.80 2.09 1.58 0.93 0.79




CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(continued)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
(LOSS)/INCOME

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods:

Equity investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive
(loss)/income:

Changes in fair value
Income tax effect

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income
that will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:

Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

Cash flow hedge

Share of other comprehensive {loss)/
income of joint ventures

Share of other comprehensive (loss)/
income of associates

Net other comprehensive income that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

Total comprehensive income
attributable to;
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

(119,709) 59,199 (315,482) (169,841) 52,735
35,741 (25,987) 49,812 26,676 {8,500)
(83,968) 33,212 (265,670) (143,165) 44 235
{83,988) 33,212  (265,670) {143,165) 44,235
112,638 173,075 141,250 184,292 {(27,068)
(63,036) 83,038 - - (21,133)

- 3,698 {2,350) (3,618) 65

(3,326) 301 {18,048) (18,672) 8,861
46,277 240,010 120,852 162,004 {39,275)
46,277 240,010 120,852 162,004 (39,275)
(37,691) _ 273,222 (144.818) 18,839 4,960
1,501,735 2,373,711 1,642,937 1,174,671 710,610
1,511,384 2,206,195 1,317,127 879,875 746,052
{9,648) 167,516 325,810 294,796 (35,442)
1,601,735 2,373,711 1,642 937 1,174,671 710,610




CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Other intangible assets

Investments in joint ventures

Investments in associates

Equity investments designated
at fair value through cther
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Deferred tax assefs

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Pledged deposits

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accruals

Derivative financial instruments

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings

Bonds payable

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Notes

13
20(a)
15
14
16
17

18
19

21
22

23
24

25
26

19

27
28

30
31
20(b)

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
14,796,535 24,074,798 28,993,391 29,996,544
1,082,317 1,648,401 1,647,515 1,725,631
1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,798 1,418,893
15,931 30,468 648,696 1,272,075
206,290 1,978,467 2,354,322 2,382,782
63,732 197,215 1,707,361 1,760,375
497,669 836,088 521,960 571,267
300,000 - 28,000 28,000
69,826 48,296 121,585 107,727
2,754,475 1,880,421 1,729,108 1,508,080
21,112,556 32,044,317 39,176,747 40,769,354
8,620,205 7,929,073 9,826,364 10,226,751
5,077,452 5,139,838 5,105,812 5,658,409
2,639,591 5,335,833 5,436,560 6,226,233
4,247 122,462 148,554 133,275
2,269,615 1,041,877 1,105,032 900,791
- - 2,012,154 1,133,019
12,979,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 9,645,273
32,590,359 29,966,649 33,718,432 33,924,751
8,722,936 8,593,538 10,249,416 13,100,673
967,036 1,375,871 1,892 824 1,691,925
459,526 1,655 100,487 15,539
7,328,377 6,360,841 10,639,073 10,551,047
- - 1,024,764 1,021,076

18,394 10,565 18,883 15,808
94,392 139,631 114,000 91,244
17,590,661 16,482,201 24,039,467 26,487,312
14,999 698 13,484,448 9,678,965 7,437 439
36,112,254 45,528,765 48,855,712 48,206,793




CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION {continued)

Notes

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonds payable 31
Convertible bonds 32
Interest-bearing bank

borrowings 30
Lease liabilities 20(b)
Deferrad income 33
Deferred tax liabilities 21
Other non-current liabilities 34
Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY
Equity atfributable to owners

of the parent
Share capital 35
Treasury shares 35
Reserves 37

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,687,387 1,720,373 725,077 723,366

- - 99,010 125,663
12,605,894 13,832,291 15,787,651 15,590,166
8,727 8,605 25,824 15,435
425,091 367,190 391,653 381,088
132,127 152,818 215,403 214,704
908,894 1,523,795 2,122,527 1,726,776
15,768,120 17,605,072 19,367,145 18,777,198
20,344,134 27,923,693 29,488,567 29,429,595
670,634 669,824 937,080 938,029
{255,4886) (339,854) (604,094) {952,238)
16,107,791 19,497,452 19,707,756 20,353,995
16,522,939 19,827,422 20,140,752 20,339,786
3,821,185 8,096,271 9,347,815 9,089,809
20,344,134 27,923,683 29,488,667 20,429,595

o %’/é

DENG Weiming
Directar

LIU Xindgguo

Directar
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CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd,

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FIL.LOWS

Year ended 31 Decernber Six months ended 30 June
Note
5 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
CASH FLOWS FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax 1,692,990 2,380,899 2,022,544 1,309,346 827,053
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 7 538,914 841,226 1,037,366 495,398 521,081
Share of profits and losses of
joint ventures and associates 649 15,945 (50,283) (7,703) (6,612)
Bank interest income 5 (89,933) (218,289) (221,827) (104,159) (79,019)
Dividend income from equity
investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income 5 {2.293) {1,597) {2,557) (2,557) (1,329)
Gains on derivative financial
instruments 5 (8,712) (35,564) {67,625) (6,382) {48,900)
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 6 497 535 843,589 1,391,610 510,500 983,677
Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 6 33,952 49,053 43,810 27,180 30,041
Amortisation of other intangible
assets B 4,526 7,202 9,276 4,505 5,157
Impairment of financial assets,
net 5,181 16,281 16,032 13,445 36,068

8
Wiite-down of inventories to net
realisable value 5] 122,894 202,678 34,097 (4,369) 40,641
Impairment of non-financial
assets <] - - 18,635 - -
Impairment losses on
construction in progress 6
Loss on disposal of items of
G

property, plant and equipment

- - 11,663 - -
2,922 15,965 12,073 333 21,541

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary - - 1,227
Gain on disposal of a long-term
equity investment 5 - (186 ) - - -
Share-based payment expense 36 79,430 51,864 79,941 55,855 15,748
2,878,055 4,169,086 4,334,955 2,391,392 2,346,284
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (4,883,914) 1,488,454 (1,882,211) (404,100) (441,029)
Decrease in a pledged deposit 127,918 971,392 272,995 242,111 146,130
Increase in trade and bill
receivables (1,744,743) {1,853,665) (185,252) 751,858 {536,885)
Increase in prepayments and other
assets (1,116,162) (1,523,721) (86,639 {559,137) {270,150}
{Decrease)/increase in trade and
bills payables (344,397) 1,821,448 1,047,787 (1,235,114) 677,519
Increase in contract liabilities 68,230 82,824 391,854 329,861 (305,932)
{Decrease)fincrease in other
payables and accruals (164,808) (39,852} 204,159 (36,126} {115,555)
Increase/{decrease) in derivative
financial instruments 423,233 (540,522) 126,353 49,718 (87,500)
Increase/{decrease) in deferred
income 150,828 (67,901) 25,908 9,346 (11,469)
{Decrease)/increase In other
liabilities {204,425) 51,323 {35,080) (35,080 213,860
Cash generated from operations (4,810,185} 4,568,866 4,214,829 1,504,729 1,615,273
Income tax paid {143,382} (183,6877) (271,866} {200,196) {139,632)
Net cash flows (used in)/from
operating activities {4,953,567) 4,385,189 3,942,963 1,304,533 1,475.641
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CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received from
related parties

Dividends received from
listed investments

Purchases of items of
property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of
items of property, plant
and equipment

Refund of an advance
payment for purchase of
fand

Additions to other intangible
assets

Purchases of equity
investments in joint
ventures and associates

Purchases of financial
assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Withdrawal of financial
assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal of
financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss

Purchases of equity
investments designated
at fair value through
other comprehensive
income

Proceeds from disposal of
equity investments
designated at fair value
through other
comprehensive income

Prepayments for equity
investments

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Disposal of a subsidiary

Advances of loans ta joint
ventures and associates

Repayment of loans to joint
ventures and associates

Placement of pledged time
deposits

Withdrawal of pledged time
deposits

Others

Net cash flows used in
investing activities

Notes 2022

2023

2024

2024

2025

RMB'000

2,293
(9,534,743}
2,524

14 (8.191)
(258,421)
(872,000)

572,000

10,448

(524,029

(2567.270)
41 (957,549)

48,540

RMB'000

14,900

1,697
(6,914,512}
3,232

54,000
(21,739)

(477,162)

71,052
(490,335)
(1,400,552)

(468,734)
(16,000)

RMB’CC0

6,852

2,557
(6,466,161)

28,408

(5,822)
(1,359,818)
(6,128,000}

4,088,209

40,113

4,764
(117,886)
(107,743)
(727,045)

751,118

16,000

RMB’000
(unaudited)

2,554
(2,339,712)
9,253

(5,552)
(539,554)
(700,000

700,000

795

(30,384-»)

{374,838)
274,053

(12,680)

RMB’000

6,150
(556)

(1,535,036)

38,546

{182,838)

(19,623)

(6,974,621)

7,853,212

68,607

2,310
(848,193)
(417,709)
(1,471)
(809,591)

284,728

(11,775,388}

(9,644 253}

(9,972,453)

(3,016,065)

{2,636.,487)
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CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

Notes 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares 35 4,562,782 - 53,453 - £7,022
Share issue expenses 35 (34,429) - - - (21,589)
Proceeds form issue of bonds 1,671,504 - 166,270 - 199,990
New bank loans 24,326,745 13,256,970 15,598,657 10,655,767 8,665,996
New other borrowings 2,380,068 1,710,000 2,083,820 10,000 5,326,918
Loans from non-controlling
interests 805,910 415,167 148,205 48,383 29,023
Repayment of leans from non-
controlling interests - - {1,077,873) {645,031) (100,377}
Repayment of bank loans (10,759,492) {12,915,224) {9,547,809) (5,685,908) (8,912,039)
Repayment of bonds payable {200,000}
Repayment of other borrowings (1,951,333) (2,823,413) (310,000} {310,000) (2,983,821}
Acquisition of non-controlling
interests - (329,696) (1,504,550) (149,468) {256,626)
Capital contribution of non-
controlling interests 3,335,705 4,418,574 2,338,442 556,323 600,000
Principal portion of lease
payments {15,604) (18,596) {24,934) (13,265) (14,710)
Dividends paid (101,753} (172,679) (1,031,136) (770,675) (325,233)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders - (78,353) (265,151) (214,203) (328,504)
Interest paid {488,336) (930,375) (1,315,274) (414,507) (425,356)
Loans and bond issuance fees {49,002) (37,014} - (59,237} (1,745)
Withdrawal of pledged time
deposits related to financing
activities - 272,246 10,000 1,500 79,958
Placement of pledged time
deposits related to financing
activities (290,209) {10,000} (352,050) (68,328) (21,847)
Payment for a sale-leaseback
arrangement (7,367) (5.492) - - -
Repurchase of shares - (232,796) (313,793} (107,128) (621,776)
Others 7,506 - - - -
Net cash flows from financing
activities 23,392,695 2,519,319 5,556,277 2,934,223 745,285
NET INCREASE/{DECREASE)
IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS 6,663,730 (2,739,745) (473,213) 1,222,691 {315,561)
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 6,337,216 12,979,249 10,397,466 10,387,466 10,083,956
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net (21,697) 157,962 158,703 148,487 (123,122)
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year 12,979,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 11,768,644 9,645,273
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 12,979,249 10,320,342 10,083,956 11,768,644 9,645,273
Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than three
months when acquired - 77,124 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents as
stated in the statement of
financial position 12,979,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 11,768,644 9,645,273
Cash and cash equivalents 26 12,979,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 11,768,644 9,645,273




CNGR Advanced Material Co., Ltd.

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Other intangible assets
Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in associates
Equity investments designated at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Other non-current assets

Total nen-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

inventories

Trade and bills receivables
Prepayments, depasits and other

receivables

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Derivative financial instruments

Interest-bearing bank barrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable(™te)

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease lianilities
Deferred income
Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets

EQUITY

Share capital
Treasury shares

Reserves

Total equity

Notes

13
20(a)
14
1700)
171y

18

19
22

23
24

25
26
26

19
29

27
28
29
30
20(b)

30
20(b)
33
21

35
35
37

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RME'000 RMEB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,679,158 1,638,472 1,546,455 1,436,420
90,621 87,927 110,944 104,052
13,135 18,654 17,125 21,753
16,997,669 17,667,644 18,697,998 19,760,177
625 - . -
68,408 433,173 283,689 297,164
300,000 - 28,000 28,000
7,599 10,986 10,504 11,333
19,157,115 19,856,856 20,694,715 21,658,899
2,339,673 1,845,265 1,429,804 1,335,224
2,262,328 1,562,695 2,140,535 1,477,111
321,947 2,434,479 2,398,463 4,149,677
560,784 329,140 235,338 125,700
1,817,806 764,020 814,734 1,540,577
. . . 150,784
- 349 23,925 26,495
7,302,538 6,935,948 7,042,799 8,805,568
5,002,233 2,402,136 2,581,601 3,106,782
2,772,979 4,700,104 4,678,444 6,276,881
3,770 - - 233
1,110,725 1,566,486 2,597,356 2,502,106
1,845 1,703 11,432 9,797
76,754 60,448 - i
8,968,306 8,730,877 9,866,833 11,805,799
(1,665.768 (1,794,929 (2,826,034 (3,080,231
17,491,347 18,061,927 17,868,681 18,568,668
2,996,011 4,289,806 4,415,090 4,860,600
- - 13,063 9,000
71,329 68,649 57,898 55,808
66,598 70,322 41,993 33.895
3,133,938 4,429,777 4,528,044 4,959,303
14,367,409 13,632,150 13,340,637 13,609,365
670,634 669,824 937,090 938,029
(255,486 (339,854 {504,004 (952,238
13,942,261 13,302,180 12,907,641 13,623,574
14,357,409 13,632,150 13,340,637 13,609,365

Note: Balance represents corporate income tax payables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company established in the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") on 15
September 2014. The Company’s A shares are listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 23 December
2020. The registered office of the Company is located at the intersection of No. 2 Avenue and No. 1
Avenue, Dalong Economic Development Zone, Tongren City, Guizhou Province, China.

The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in research, development, production,
processing and sale of new materials, batteries and new energy. In the opinion of the directors, the
Company’s immediate and ultimate shareholder are Hunan Zhongwei Halding Group Company Limited,
("R IHEREEGRAA), a company registered in the PRC and controlled by Mr. Deng Weiming
and Ms. Wu Xiaoge. ‘ .

As at 30 June 2025, the Company's principal subsidiaries are set cut below:

Place of . Percentage of equity
incorporation/ [ssued attributable to the Company
registration and ordinary/registered
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
% %

Hunan Zhongwei New Energy Manufacturing of
Technology Company Limited metal materials,
(MR PR R TR AR & cathode active
"™ (note (a)) material (CAM)

recursors, the raw
materials or
precursor
compounds used to
produce the
PRC/Mainland cathode n:laterials
China for batteries
RMB4,816,631,300 75.78 - (“pCAM™

Hunan Zhongwei Zhengyuan
New Material Trading
Company Limited (*“HEgrp{g ) Trading of metal
ERFERE A ERAT" PRC/Ma Iglha[:g materials and
{note (a)) RMB1,700,000,000 100.00 - pCAM

Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy
Technology Company Limited .
(HPEDEIERFIATR.  PRC/Mainland Manufacluring of
B")* (note (a)) China R metal materials

MIB6,373,273,943 76.88 - and pCAM

CNGR Hong Kong Material
Science & Technology Co.,

Lid. {note (bp Hong Kong HKD3,700,000,000 100.00 Investment holding

Zoomwe Hong Kong New Energy
Technology Ce., Ltd. {note (b)) Hong Kong HXD650,000,000 - 100,00 Investment holding

Guizhou Zhongwei New Material
Company Limited (“fHcp{& .

| =1 Trading of metal
R B TRAT]) (note PRC/Mainland materials and
(@) China RMB950,000,000 100.00 - pCAM

Guizhou Zhongwei Resources
Recycling Industrial .
Dev)(;]opr?lent Company R.ecy clmg.nlnd ,
Limited (“Bi s s circular ull]lzal.lon
RSB RATIRANE]™) (mote ) of waste batteries,

o PRC/Mainland metals, and other
(@) China RMB721,380,000 55.45 2161 resources

Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang
Energy Storape Technology
Company Limited (“$Hcp{gt
BB SREERRAIRAE" Production of iron
(note (@)) PRC/Mainland phosphorus-based

China RMB3,125,000,000 - 52,00 pCAM
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ [ssued attributable 1o the Company
registration and ordinary/registered
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
% %
PT Nadesico Nickel Industry
(note (c))
Production of
Indonesia  [DR4,245,600,000,000 - 60.00  metal materials
PT Zhongtsing New Energy (note
(d) (e)
Production of
Indonesia  [DR1,994,604,000,000 ~ 70.00  metal materials
PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia
(note (d) (e))
Production of
Indenesia  [DR1,403,752,000,000 - 50,10  metal materials
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)

* The English names of the entities registered in PRC represent the best efforts made by the management of
the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as they did not register any official English name.

Notes:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

{e)

The statutory financial staterments of these entities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 prepared under
PRC Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("PRC GAAP") were audited by Baker Tilly China Ceriified Public
Accountants, certified public accountants registered in the PRC. The statutory financial statements of these entities for
the years ended 31 Decernber 2024 prepared under PRC GAAP were audited by Ernst & Young Hua Ming Changsha
Branch, certified public accountants registered in the PRC.

The statutory financial statements of these entities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 prepared under
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") were audited by Rich Moral CPA Limited registered in Hong
Kong. The statutory financial statements of these entities for the years ended 31 December 2024 prepared under
HKFRSs were audited by Ermst & Young registered in Hong Kong.

The statutory financial statements of these entities for the years ended December 31, 2023 prepared under Indonesian
Financial Accounting Standards ("SAK") were audited by Kantor Akuntan Publik Tanuwijaya registered in Indonesia,
The statutory financial statements of these entities for the years ended 31 December 2024 prepared under SAK were
audited by Purwantcono, Sungkero &Surja registered in Indonesia,

The statutory financial statements of these entities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 prepared under
SAK were audited by Kosasih, Nurdiyaman, Mulyadi, Tiahjo & Rekan Registered Public Accountants and Moore
Certified Public Accountants registerad in Indonesia respectively. The statutory financial statements of these entities
for the years ended 31 December 2024 prepared under SAK were audited by Purwantono, Sungkoro &Surja registered
in Indonesia.

Shares of these subsidiaries are pledged for the Group's interest-bearing bank loans.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
have operation activities. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinicn of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.
2.1

22

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements are prepared for the purpose of preparation of financial information for inclusion
in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the listing of the shares of the Company on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. They have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards, which comprise all standards and interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Board. All IFRS Accounting Standards effective for the accounting
period commencing from 1 January 2025, together with the relevant transitional provisions, have been
early adopted by the Group throughout the Relevant Periods and the period covered by the Interim
Comparative Information.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. They are
presented in Renminbi ("RMB") and all valuss are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assels befween an Investor and ifs
Associate or Joint Venture!

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Amendmenis to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?

Amendments to IFRS 8 and IFRS 7 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity?

Annual improvements to IFRSs Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 10 and IAS

Accounting Standards— Volume 11 72
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures®

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

The Group is in the process of making a detailed assessment of the impact of these revised [FRSs upon
initial application. So far, the Group considers that these revised IFRSs may result in changes in certain
accounting policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group's financial performance
and financial position in the period of initial application.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 Presenfation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from IAS 1 with limited changes, IFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories:
operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present two new
defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance measures in a
single note and introduces enhanced requirements eon the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation)
and the location of information in both the primary financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in |IAS 1 are moved to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as |IAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial
Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of IFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to |IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 33 Earnings per Share and |AS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other IFRSs. IFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other IFRSs are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The application of
IFRS 18 is not expected to have material impact on the financial position of the Group but is expected
to affect the presentation of the statements of profit or loss and disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (inciuding a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

{a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
{b} rights arising from cther contractual arrangements; and
{c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial information of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described in the accounting policy for
subsidiaries below. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognizes (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iiiy any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related asseis and liabilities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's profit or loss to the extent of dividends received
and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

investments in an associate and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest and over which it is in a position to
exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of associates and
joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognized directly in
the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognizes its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where unrealized losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates
or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence cver the asscciate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant influence
or joint contral and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in
profit or loss.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred

is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value, Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of aclivities and assets

includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATICN (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for

appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resufting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
the amount recognized for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's previously held
equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognized in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognized. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit {or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income and fair
value through profit or loss at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction beiween market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value
of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liabllity, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset In its highest and best use,

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Financial information are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is uncbservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each of the Relevant Periods.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annuai impairment testing for an asset is required

{other than inventories), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount of a corperate asset

{e.g., a headquarters building} is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognized only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each of the Relevant Periods as to whether there is an indication
that previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognized impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/famortization) had no impairment loss been recognized
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment 10ss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued
asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

{i) has control or joint controf over the Group;

(iiy  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(il one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

{v} the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group;

{vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

{vil) a person identified in (2){i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

{(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {ceontinued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gains or losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalized
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognizes such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not
differ materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the values of property, plant and equipment are
deait with as movements in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individua! asset basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the statement of profit
or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is credited to the statement of profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained profits
is made for the difference between the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an asset
and the depreciation based on the asset's original cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant
portion of the asset revaluation reserve realized in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3.17% to 5.00%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 14.29%
Machinery 5.84% to 10.00%
Vehicles 11.88% to 25.00%
Office devices and others 19.00% to 33.33%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item
is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately, Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognized is
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognized in profit or loss in the year the asset is
derecognized is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. [t is

reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipmant when completed and ready for
use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES {continued)
Other intangible assets {other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The
useful lives of other intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Other Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each
financial year end.

The amortization of mining rights is based on the units-of production method. Exploration rights are not
amortized until mining commences and are amortized in accordance with the units-of-production method
after they are transferred to mining rights.

The remaining intangible assets are stated at cost less any impairment losses and are amortized on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The principal estimated useful lives of intangible
assets are as follows;

Category Estimated useful lives
Scftware 5-10 years

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are determined by considering the period of the economic
benefits to the Group or the periods of validity of intangible assets protected by the relevant laws, as
well as by referring to the industry practice,

Exploration expenditure is recognized as other non-current assets exploration and development costs
at the net amount of cost less impairment. Exploration expenditure includes costs of geological
prospecting for technical consultancy and costs of feasibility study for commercial development which
incurred in the surroundings, outer ring and deep areas of the existing or externally acquired mineral
properties, and costs of drilling, trench sampling and other associated activities. Such expenditures may
be capitalized when the mineral properties are reasonably determined to be commercially available and
recognized as intangible assets after obtaining mining rights, which will be amortized under the units-of-
production method. If any construction is abandened in the development phase or belongs to the
productive exploration, all costs shall be written off and recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalized and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
wili generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability
to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a peried of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lesses

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the commencement date of the lease {(that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of [ease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 1-3 years
Machinery 1.3-3 years
Leasehold land 50 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life
of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any |lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of the lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as an expense in the peried in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2.3

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee(continued)

{c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of buildings
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-value
assets to leases of office equipment and laptop computers that are considered to be of low value.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalize the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
term and is included in revenue in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as revenue in the period in which they
are earned.

Investments and cther financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair
value through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing compenent or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
intially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue recognition” below.

in order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (*SPPI”") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Investments and other financial assets {continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortized cost are held within a business mode! with the objective to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and seiling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognized on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and
are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity invesiments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the definition
of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The classification
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the consolidated statements of profit
of loss and comprehensive income. Dividends are recognized as other income in the consolidated
statements of profit of loss and comprehensive income when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other
comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income are not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on the equity
investments are also recognized as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated
from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in
the statement of profit or loss. Reassessment occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows.
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assefs at fair value through profit or foss (continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in
its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Dereccgnition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognized (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

« The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired:; or
The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a "pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership
of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognizes an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
locking information.
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Impairment of financial assets (continuad)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the cutstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortized
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track
changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly atiributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable and financial liabilities included in other non-current liabilities.
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Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabifities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing
in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognized in the statement of profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial labilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are designated
at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in the statement of profit or loss,
except for the gains or losses arising from the Group's own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognized in the statement of profit or [oss does not include any interest charged on
these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost (frade and other payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and other liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking inte account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortization is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecegnition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or canceled, or

expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing fiability are substantially modified, such an exchange or medification
is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognized in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as commedity futures, commeodity options and
cross currency swaps, to hedge its commodity price risk and foreign currency risk, respectively. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets
when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that meet the definition of a derivative as defined by
IFRS 9 is recognized in the statement of profit or loss as cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are
entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or delivery of a non-financial item in
accordance with the Group's expected purchase, sale or usage requirements are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the statement
of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognized in other
comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

* fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or
liability or an unrecognized firm commitment; or

» cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable
to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast
transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment; or

s hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management objective and
its strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged itemn, the nature of the

risk being hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge

effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the

hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the

following effectiveness requirements:

¢ There is "an economic relationship” between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

« The effect of credit risk does not “dominate the value changes” that result from that economic
relationship.

« The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the
hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the
Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting {continued)

Hedges which meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly in other
comprehensive income in the cash flow hedge reserve, while any ineffective portion is recognized
immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is adjusted to the lower of
the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of the
hedged item.

The amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are accounted for, depending on the nature
of the underlying hedged transaction. If the hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition
of a non-financial item, the amount accumulated in equity is removed from the separate component of
equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged asset or liability. This is not
a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognized in other comprehensive income for the period.
This also applies where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability
subsequently becomes a firm commitment to which fair value hedge accounting is applied.

For any cother cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged
cash flows affect the statement of profit or loss.

If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in other
comprehensive income must remain in accumulated other comprehensive income if the hedged future
cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. After the discontinuation, once the hedged
cash flow occurs, any amount remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income is accounted for
depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described above.

Fair value hedges

The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. The
change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the
carrying amount of the hedged itern and is also recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

For fair value hedges relating to items carried at amortized cost, the adjustment to carrying value is
amortized through the statement of profit or loss over the remaining term of the hedge using the effective
interest rate method. Effective interest rate amortization may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and
shall begin no later than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value
attributable to the risk being hedged. If the hedged item is derecognized, the unamortized fair value is
recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an unrecognized firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative
change in the fair value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as an asset
or liability with a corresponding gain or loss recognized in profit or loss. The changes in the fair value of
the hedging instrument are also recognized in profit or loss.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or the Group (treasury shares)
are recognized directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group's awn equity instruments.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labor and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realizable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash

on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as fo use.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognized for a provision is the present value at
the end of each reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.

Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. income tax relating to items recognized outside profit or
loss is recognized outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of each reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of each
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

» in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax {continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses, Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized, except:

+ when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

» inrespect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is seitled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each of the Relevant Periods.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable
right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expeacted to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognized at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognized as income con a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual installments
and released to the statement of profit or loss.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with custorners

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumuiative revenue recognized wili not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognized under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services is one
year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.

{a) Sale of industrial products

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognized at the point in time when control of the asset
is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial products.

Some contrasts for the sale of industrial products provide customers with rights of return and volume
rebates, giving rise to variable consideration.

(i) Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to return the goods within a specified period,
the expected value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned because this
method best predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled. The
requirements in IFRS 15 on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied in order to
determine the amount of variable consideration that can be included in the transaction price. For
goods that are expected to be returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognized. A right-
of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognized for the right
to recover products from a customer.

(i) Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain customers once the quantity of products
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset
against amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the expected
future rebates, the most likely amount method is used for contracts with a single-volume threshold
and the expected value method for contracts with more than one volume threshold. The selected
method that best predicts the amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the number of
volume thresholds contained in the contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of variable
consideration are applied and a refund liability for the expected future rebates is recognized.
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Revenue recognition (continued)
Other income

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognized when the shareholders' right to receive payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognized when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related services. Contract liabilities are recognized as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract {i.e., transfers control of the related services to
the customer).

Share-based payments
The Company operates a Share-Based Payments scheme. Employees (including directors) of the Group

receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in
exchange for equity instruments ("equity-settled transactions™). The cost of equity-settled transactions
with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in
note 36 to the financial information.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognized as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group's
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any cther conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions
are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.
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Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognized. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognized as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognized for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled
award is canceled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancelation, and any expense not yet
recognized for the award is recognized immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain proportion of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognizes restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,

L.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalized as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalization of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalized. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds.

Events after the reporting pericd
If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to the date of authorization for issue,

about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information
affects the amounts that it recognizes in its financial statements. The Group will adjust the amounts
recognized in its financial statements to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and update
the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-adjusting events
after the reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts recognized in its financial statements,
but will disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.
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Dividends

Final dividends are recognized as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in note 11 to the financial information. Interim dividends
are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company's memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognized immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in RMB dollars, which is the Company's functional currency.

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liahilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Differences arising on settiement or translation of monetary items are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognized in other comprehensive income until the net investment is
disposed of, at which time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss. Tax
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in
other comprehensive income,

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognized in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognizes the non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are muitiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are currencies
other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of & foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to
that particular foreign operation is recognized in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operaticn and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
24 FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Group’s opening statement of financial position
was prepared as at 1 January 2022, being the date of transition to IFRS Accounting Standards.

Reconciliation of assets

The reconciliations of assets as at 1 January 2022 (date of transition to IFRS Accounting Standards)
and 31 December 2024 (the end of the latest period of the most recent annual financial statements under
Chinese Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises ("CASBE”)) are as follows:

As at 1 January 2022

The Group The Company
RMB'000 RMB'000
Right-of-use assets under CASBE 175,750 53,508
Effect of transitions to IFRS Accounting
Standards:
Adjustment (note (a)) 772,382 91,974
Right-of-use assets under IFRS Accounting
Standards 948,132 145,482
Other intangible assets under CASBE 786,648 103,513
Effect of transitions to IFRS Accounting
Standards:;
Adjustment {note (a}) {772,382) (91,974)
Other intangible assets under IFRS Accounting
Standards 14,266 11,539
As at 31 December 2024
The Group The Company
RMB'000 RMB'000
Right-of-use assets under CASBE 45,539 25,328
Effect of transitions to IFRS Accounting
Standards:
Adjustment (note (a)) 1,601,976 85,616
Right-of-use assets under IFRS Accounting
Standards 1,647,515 110,944
Other intangible assets under CASBE 2,250,672 102,741
Effect of transitions to IFRS Accounting
Standards:
Adjustment (note (a}) (1,601,9786) (85,616)
Other Intangible assets under IFRS Accounting
Standards 648,696 17,125
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
24  FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

{a) Under CASBE, the leasehold {and is recognised as intangible assets, whereas under IFRS Accounting
Standards, the leasehold land is recognised as right-of-use assets.

Reconciliation of liabilities and equity

As at 1 January 2022 (date of transition to IFRS Accounting Standards) and 31 December 2024 (the
end of the latest period of the most recent annual financial statements under CASBE), there were no
reclassifications or remeasurements to liabilities or equity arising from the transition from CASBE to
IFRS Accounting Standards.

Reconciliation of total comprehensive income

The reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the latest
period of the most recent annual financial statements under CASBE) is as follows:

Year ended

31 December 2024

RMB'000

Total comprehensive income under CASBE 1,787,441
Effect of transitions to IFRS Accounting Standards:

Adjustment (note (b)) 314

Total comprehensive income under IFRS Accounting Standards 1,787,755

(b) Pursuant to the revised Measures for the Extraction and Use of Enterprise Safety Production Funds,
the Group is required to set aside an amount to maintenance, production and other similar funds.
Under PRC GAAP, the funds are freated as appropriation from profit or loss to special reserve. Under
IFRSs, the funds are treated as appropriation from retained earnings to special reserve and the
relevant expense is recognized in profit or loss only when it is incurred.

Reconciliation of cash flows

The transition of CASBE to IFRS Accounting Standards did not have any material adjustments to the
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial information requires management fo make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgments

Business model

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the Group's business model for
managing the assets. Factors considered by the Group in judging the business model include enterprise
evaluation, the method of reporting the results of financial assets to key management members, risks
affecting the results of financial assets and the method for managing such risks, as well as the form of
remuneration received by the management personnel of the businesses concerned. In assessing
whether the business model is aimed at receiving contractual cash flows, the Group Is required to
analyse and exercise judgement in respect of the reasons, timing, frequency and values of any disposals
prior to maturity.

Characteristics of contractual cash flows

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the characteristics of the
contractual cash flows of the financial assets. Judgement is required to determine whether the
contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, including the judgement on whether there is any significantly different from the benchmark
cash flows when assessing modifications to the time value of money.

Deracognition of financial assefs

Where the Group has fransferred the right to receive cash flow arising from an asset but has not
transferred or has retained substantially all risks and rewards associated with such asset, or has not
transferred the controlling right in such asset, such asset shall be recognized and accounted for so long
as the Group continues to be involved in such asset. If the Group has not transferred or has retained
substantially all risks and rewards associated with the asset or transferred the controlling right in the
asset, the exercise of significant judgment is often required, and estimations need to be made as to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

~Judaments (continued)

Principal/agent

When the Group obtains control of trade goods from a third party and then transfers them to the
customer, the Group is entitled to determine the transaction price of the trade goods on its own. The
Group controls the trade goods before they are transferred to the customer. Thus, the Group is a
principal and recognizes revenue in the gross amount of consideration received or receivable.
Ctherwise, the Group is an agent and recegnizes revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to
which it expects to be entitled from the customer. The amount is the net amount of the gross
consideration received or receivable after paying the other party the consideration received in exchange
for the goods to be provided by that party or determined by the agreedupon amount or proportion of
commissions, ete.

Whether constifutes a "Business”

The Group determines whether the acquired combination of business activities or assets in a business
combination constitutes a business by assessing whether the acquired asset portfolio possesses input,
processing, and output capabilities, and can independently calculate its costs or generated revenue. In
2024, the Group's wholly-owned subsidiary, Singapore CNGR Zhongxin New Energy Pte. Ltd. acquired
92.73% equity in PT Multi Usaha Sejahati ("MUS"). MUS has no substantive business operations, with
its core assets consisting of 55.00% equity in PT Harum Sukses Mining ("HSM") and 55.01% equity in
PT Bumi Halteng Mining ("BHM"). HSM holds two nickel mining projects, while BHM owns one nickel
mining project. The Group concluded that MUS did not constitute a business because, at the time of
acquisition, its nickel mines remained unexploited and still required further supplementary exploration
and development plan verification, lacking precessing procedures and output capabilities.

In 2025, the Group's whelly-owned subsidiary, Netherlands Tontru Lithium Energy Technology B.\V{f
LEREREREFRAT) and Netherlands Hontru Lithium Energy Technology B.V(fi22 = S8 4E
B HFR AT acquired 100% equity in Wintru S.R.L.. Wintru S.R.L. has no substantive business
operations, which core asset is Jama Salt Lake Lithium Mine Project. The Group concluded that Wintru
S.R.L. did not constitute a business because, at the time of acquisition, its ore mines remained
unexploited and still required further supplementary exploration and development plan verification,
lacking processing procedures and output capabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below,

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annua! basis. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present vaiue
of those cash flows, The carrying amount of goodwill at the end of each of the Relevant Periods were
RMB1,325,781,000, RMB1,348,262,000 and RMB1,424,799,000, and RMB1,418,893,000, respectively.
Further details are given in note 15 to the financial information.

Provision for expected credit losses on frade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on ageing for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer
type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical cbserved default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic cenditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 24 to the Financial information.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets {incliding
the right-of-use assets) at the end of each of the Relevant Periods. The non-financial assets are tested
for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of
the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s
tength transaction of similar assets or cbservable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of
the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Exploration expenditure

After determining the capitalisation amount of exploration expenditures, the Group will regularly evaluate
the exploration results. If the reviewed geclogical exploration report shows that there are no prospecting
results or no economically recoverable reserves, or that the economic benefits of mining cannet be
achieved and further exploration is unnecessary due to low grade and difficulties in mining and
processing, the exploration and development costs previously collected will be expensed and included
in the profit and loss for the current period in a lump sum.

Proved mineral reserves

Proved mineral reserves are estimated based on professional knowledge, experience and industry
practice. Generally, the estimated mineral reserve volume based on probing and estimation may not be
very accurate. The estimation is updated in accordance with new technologies and new information. Any
changes in estimation will have impacts on amounts of mining assets’ depreciation and mining rights’
amortisation using the units-of-production methed, on the stripping ratio which was used in the
capitalisation of stripping costs, and on each of transaction prices of the metals streaming business, etc.
This may result in changes of or impacts on the Group's development and operation plan, and hence
the Group’s operation and performance.

Contingent liability

For the possible obligations arising from past transactions or events which existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events, or present obligations arising from
past transactions or events where the likelihood of an cutflow of resources is remote or the liabilities
cannot be measured reliably, such as legal proceedings, arbitration, claims, disputes, external
guarantees, etc., the Group will estimate whether it is required to be disclosed or recognized in the
financial statements for the current period based on legal advice and the probability of future occurrence.
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NOTES TC THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued})

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management monitors the operating results of the Group’s operating segment as a whole for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers
Revenue is aftributed to geographical areas based on the locations of customers. Revenues by

geographical segment based on the locations of customers for each of the Relevant Periods are
presented as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Geographical market
Mainland China 20,124,343 20,200,092 22,339,155 10,961,315 10,538,496
Qutside Mainland
China 10,219,389 14,073,131 17,883,735 9,124,871 10,784,051
Total 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222 890 20,086,186 21,322,547

(b) Non-current assets

Year ended 31 December

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Geographical market
Mainland China 16,519,671 14,278,527 14,091,315 14,476,264
Outside Mainland China 3,725,390 16,880,505 24,413,877 25,586,096
Total 20,245,061 31,158,032 38,505,192 40,062,360

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

informatian about major customers

Revenue from major customers each individually amounting to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is
as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
{unaudited)
Customer A 5,513,001 4,524,503 N/A N/A N/A
Customer B 3,510,885 3,550,358 N/A N/A N/A
Customer C 3,474,635 N/A N/A NIA N/A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Revenue from
contracts with
customers 30,343,742 34,272,585 40,204,859 20,085,316 21,297,333
Revenue from other
sources
Rental income - 638 18,031 870 25,214
Total 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222 890 20,086,186 21,322,547

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Types of goods or
services
MNew energy battery
materials
Nickel-based materials 24,627,656 21,733,466 16,163,302 8,830,575 7,490,866
Cobalt-based materials 3,194,732 2,957,722 2,244,581 1,078,274 1,451,943
Phosphorus-hased
materials 661 327,722 679,644 246,602 670,075
Other innovative materials - - 9,869 2,922 19,368
Sub-total 27,823,049 25,018,910 19,097,396 10,158,463 9,632,252
New energy metal
products - 3,388,015 13,483,103 6,439,175 9,272,895
Others 2,520,693 5,866,298 7,642,301 3,488,548 2,417,400
Total 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222,890 20,086,186 21,322 547
Geoegraphical market
Mainland China 20,124,343 20,200,092 22,339,155 10,961,315 10,538,498
Cutside Mainland China 10,218,399 14,073,131 17,883,735 9,124,871 10,784,051
Total 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222,890 20,086,186 21,322,547
Timing of revenue
recognition
Goods transferred at a
point in time 30,343,742 34,272,585 40,204,859 20,085,316 21,218,447
Services transferred over
time - 638 18,031 870 104,100
Total 30,343,742 34,273,223 40,222 850 20,086,186 21,322,547
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue recognized in each of the Relevant Periods that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of each of these years:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Revenue recognized
that was included
in contract
liabilities at
beginning of year:
Sale of industrial
products 18,194 86,424 168,248 169,248 586,567

No revenue recognized during the Relevant Periods related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior years.

{b) Performance obligations
Infermation about the Group's performance obligations is summarized below:

Sale of industrial products

For domestic industrial products sales, the performance obligation is satisfied upon obtaining the
delivery receipt after the customer's acceptance. For export industrial products sales, the Group fulfills
its performance obligation upon obtaining the bill of lading after arranging for a third-party logistics
provider to ship the goods to the port, load them onto the vessel, and complete customs clearance for
export. For raw materials settled based on the contract amount, the Group fulfills its performance
obligation upon obtaining the delivery receipt after the customer’s acceptance. For raw materials settled
based on the actual detection results of metal content, the Group fulfills its performance obligation upon
obtaining the settlement statement confirmed by both parties.

The payment is generally due within 30 to 80 days from delivery, except for new customers, whereby
payment in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide customers with a right of return and
volume rebates which give rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

Contracts with quotational period pricing exposures

For certain sales arrangements, sales price is determined on a provisional basis at the date of sale as
the final sales price is based on the average quoted market prices related to a subsequent period (the
"quotational period™) which normally is a period from a predetermined date in the preceding month to a
predetermined date in the month of shipment on board (provisionally priced sales). Revenue on such
provisionally priced sales is recognized based on the estimated fair value of the total consideration
receivable. The total amount of the final sale price adjustment in the Relevant Pericds was immaterial.

Consignment Processing services

The main service provided by the group is the processing of precursor materials. Upon completion of
the processing, the service obligation is fulfilled once the Group obtains the delivery receipt after the
customer's acceptance.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b) Performance obligations (continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December/30 June are as follows.

Amounts expected to be
recegnized as revenue;

Within one year

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Other income

Bank and other
horrowings interest
income

Dividend income from
equity investments at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
(note 18)

Government grants*

Total other income

Gains

Fareign exchange
differences, net

Gains on financial
instruments

Gain on disposal of a
long-term equity
investment

Others

Total gains

Total other income and
gains

2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000

1,301,751 1,199,379 1,024,879 1,716,854

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'0C0 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

89,933 218,289 221,627 104,159 79,019
2,293 1,597 2,557 2,657 1,329
518,203 579,679 437,982 231,453 133,003
610,429 799,565 662,166 338,169 213,441
B 47,090 - 17,800 -
8,712 35,564 67,625 6,382 48,990
- 166 - - -
17,606 19,424 3,808 6,367 4,688
26,318 102,244 71,433 30,549 53,678
636,747 901,809 733,599 368,718 267,119

* Government grants mainly represent incentives received from local governments for the purpose of
compensation on research and development contribution, local economic cantribution and purchases of
items of property, plant and equipment. There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to

these grants.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Cost of inventories sold*** 26,840,245 29,493,466 35,330,654 17,521,362 18,713,684

Cost of services provided*** - 623 16,022 B&5 25,699
Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 497,535 843,589 1,381,610 638,780 983,677

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 33,952 49,053 43,810 27,180 30,041

Amortisation of other intangible

assets 14 4,526 7.202 9,276 21,686 5,157
Research and development costs:

Current year expenditure 929,164 1,055,686 1,108,313 450,535 544,764

Lease payments not included in the

measurement of lease liabilities 20(c) 6,214 8,747 21,951 6,761 8,674
Employee benefit expenses

(excluding directors’ and chief

executive’s remuneration {note

8):

Wages, salaries and other

Allowances 518,651 839,009 940,385 435440 525,196

Equity-settled share-base

payment expense™*** 87,741 43,962 48,862 30,677 13,264

Pension scheme centributions

{defined contribution scheme) 15,169 26,119 28,056 14,296 15,912
Less: Amount capitalised 41,480 77,8950 16,803 6,611 42,883
Total 560,081 831,140 1,000,500 473,802 511,489
Foreign exchange differences, net 21,694 - 34,118 - 108,511

Impairment of financial assets, net:
Impairment of trade receivables,

net* 24 8,116 (10,341) 9,151 11,721 20,977
Impairment of financial assets

included in prepayments,

deposits and other receivables,

net* (935) 26,622 6,881 1,724 15,091

Total 5181 16,281 16,032 13,445 36,068

Loss on derecognition of financial
assets measured at amortised

cost* 80,354 59,292 80,087 41,463 66,332
Loss on disposal of items of

property, plant and equipment* 2,922 15,965 12,073 333 21,541
Impairment of other non-current

assets™ - - 18,635 - -
Impairment of construction in

progress® - - 11,663 - -
Wirite-down of inventories to net

realisable value 122,894 202,678 34,087 (4,369} 40,641
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

* These amounts were included in "Other expenses” in the consolidated statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the employer to reduce the
existing level of contributions.

*** The cost of inventories sold and cost of services provided includes RMB794,501,000,
RMB1,137,162,000, RMB1,259,981,000 for the years end December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and
RMB&90,492,000, RMBB897,216,000 for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and 2025 relating to
depreciation of property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortization of
other intangible assets during the Relevant Periods, which are also included in the respective total
amounts disclosed above for each type of expenses.

*+ The amounts were included in the share-based payment expenses set out in note 36 (d). The
amounts excluded: (i) The share-based payment expenses granted to the directors and chief executive
set out in note 8. (ii) The share-based payment expenses recorded in cost of sales.

7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

Interest on bank and
other borrowings
(including bonds

payable) 604,547 960,033 1,201,048 532,924 581,249
Interest on lease ‘

liabilities 1,176 3,007 2,059 1,011 871
Total interest

expense on

financial liabilities 605,723 963,040 1,203,105 533,035 582,120
Less: Interest

capitalised {77.951) (179,040} {192,532) (51,471) {70,988)
Subtotal 527,772 784,000 1,010,573 482,464 511,132
Other finance costs 11,142 57,226 26,793 12,934 9,849
Total 538,914, 841,226 1,037,366 495,398 521,081
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

8.

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the Relevant Periods, disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
Fees: 210 255 270 135 135
Other emoluments:
Salaries, bonuses,
allowances and
benefits in kind 4,592 10,688 10,082 4,895 4,223
Performance related
bonuses 3,978 7,932 9,704 2,131 2,705
Share-based
payment 3,996 10,887 15,464 13,857 534
Pension scheme
contributions 88 172 131 67 61
Subtotal 12,654 28,879 35,381 20,950 7,523
Total 12,864 29,934 35,651 21,085 7,658

During the Relevant Periods, certain directors were granted share-based payments, in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme of the Company, further details of which are set
out in note 36 to the Financial information. The fair value of such options, which has been recognized in
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the Relevant Periods is included in the above directors' and chief executive's
remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

8.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the Relevant Periods were as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Mr. Cao Yue® 70 85 90 45 45
Mr. Li Wei® 70 85 90 45 45
Mr. Liu Fangyang(" 70 85 2 2 -
Mr.Jiang Liangxing®® - - 88 43 45
Total 210 255 270 135 135

() Resigned on January 9, 2024
@ Appointed on January 9, 2024

) Mr. Cac Yue and Mr. Li Wei were resigned resigned in 2025, effective from the date on which the appeintment of
new independent directors becomes effective. Mr. Cao Feng and Mr. Hong Yuan were appointed as the independent

non-executive directors of the Company on October 15, 2025.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the

Relevant Periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION {(centinued)

(b) Executive directors, supervisors and the chief executive

Pension
scheme
Salaries, Share- contributions
allowances Performance hased and
and benefits related payment social Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses welfare remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Year ended 31
December 2022
Executive
directors:
Mr. Deng
Weiming™ - 1,178 1,134 - 14 2,326
Mr. Tao Wu - 293 896 2,363 13 4,265
Ms. Wu Xiaoge - 920 878 - 14 1,812
Mr. Ge Xinyu - - - - - -
Subtotal - 3,091 2,808 2,363 41 8,403
Supervisors:
Ms. He Qizhong - 396 162 507 14 1,079
Mr. Cai Rongxi - - - - - -
Mr. Wang
Zhenghao - - - - - -
Mr. Li Dexiang - - - - - -
Mr. Huang Xing - 490 485 330 14 1,319
Mr. Wang
Yigiao - 387 311 576 9 1,283
Mr. Zeng
Gaojun - 228 112 220 10 570
Subtotal - 1,501 1,070 1,633 47 4,251
Total - 4,592 3,978 3,996 88 12,654

* Chief executive
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b} Executive directors, supervisors and the chief executive (continued)
Pension
scheme
Salaries, Share- contributions
allowances Perfermance based and
and benefits related payment social Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses welfare  remuneration
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Year ended 31
December 2023
Executive directors:
Mr. Deng Weiming* - 1,572 960 - 14 2,546
Mr. Tao Wu - 1,279 960 2,100 14 4,353
Mr. Li Weihua - 830 960 2,016 14 3,820
Mr. Liao Hengxing - 1,230 660 1,512 14 3,418
Mr. Liu Xingguo - 773 660 1,630 16 3,079
Mr. Deng Jing - 300 - - - 300
Mr, Ge Xinyu - - - - - -
Ms. Wu Xiaoge - 938 960 - 14 1,812
Subtotal - 6,922 5,160 7,258 86 19,426
Supervisors:
Ms. Yin Guizhen - 780 660 1,648 14 3,102
Mr. He Qizhong - 393 260 524 14 1,291
Mr. Huang Xing - 441 540 437 14 1,532
Mr. Cai Rongxi(1) - - - - - -
Mr. Wang - - - - - -
Zhenghao(1)
Mr. Li Dexiang(1) - - - - - -
Mr. Dai Zufu - 980 462 - 14 1,456
Mr. Wang Yigiao - 445 271 669 10 1,395
Mr. Chen Weixaing - 472 357 (23) 10 816
Mr. Zeng Gaogjun - 255 122 274 10 661
Subtotal - 3,766 2,772 3,629 86 10,253
Total - 10,688 7,932 10,887 172 29,679

* Chief executive

() Resigned on March 30, 2023
(2 Appointed on March 30, 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, supervisors and the chief executive (continued)
Pension
Salaries, Share- scheme
allowances Performance based contributions
and benefits related payment and social Total
Fees in kind honuses expenses welfare  remuneration
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Year ended 31
December 2024
Executive directors:
Mr. Deng
Weiming* - 1,875 1,672 - 15 3,462
Mr. Tao Wu - 1,125 2,044 3,651 15 8,735
Mr. Liao 1,350 1,045 2817 15 5,027
Hengxing -
Mr. Li Weihua - 1,158 1,165 3,396 16 5,734
Mr. Deng Jing - 375 - - - 375
Mr. Liu Xingguo - 1,017 1,184 2,737 15 4,953
Subtotal - 6,900 7,010 12,301 75 26,286
Supervisors:
Ms. Yin Guizhen - 923 1,218 3,009 15 5,165
Mr. Dai Zufu(1) - 1,177 539 - 15 1,731
Mr. Zhou -
Wenxing(2) 624 507 154 15 1,300
Mr. Chen -
Weixiang 458 430 - 11 899
Subtotal - 3,182 2,694 3,163 56 9,095
Total - 10,082 9,704 15,464 131 35,381

* Chief executive

() Resigned on September 30, 2024
@ Appointed on September 30, 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)
(b} Executive directors, supervisors and the chief executive (continued)
Pension
Salaries, Share- scheme
allowances Performance based contributions
and benefits related payment and social Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses welfare remuneration

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Six months ended

30 June 2024
{unaudited)
Executive
directors:
Mr. Deng
Weiming* - 937 612 - 3 1,557
Mr. Tao Wu - 564 705 3,166 8 4,443
Mr. Liao
Hengxing - 689 127 2,318 7 3,141
Mr. Li Weihua - 576 205 3,011 8 3,800
Mr. Deng Jing - 361 - - 6 367
Mr. Liu Xingguo - 513 224 2,353 8 3,098
Subtotal - 3,640 1,873 10,848 45 16,408
Supervisors:
Ms. Yin Guizhen - 463 258 3,009 8 3,738
Mr. Dai Zufu - 585 - - 8 583
Mr. Chen
Weixiang - 207 - - 6 213
Subtotal - 1,255 258 3,009 22 4,544
Total - 4,895 2,131 13,857 67 20,950

* Chief executive
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

8. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION (continued)
{(b) Executive directors, supervisors and the chief executive (continued)
Pension
Salaries, Share- scheme
allowances Performance based contributions
and benefits related payment and social Total
Fees in kind bonuses expenses welfare remuneration
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Six months ended
30 June 2025
Executive
directors:
Mr. Deng
Weiming* - 831 1,238 - 8 2,077
Mr. Tao Wu - 571 56 190 8 825
Mr. Liao
Hengxing - 710 100 148 8 966
Mr. Li Weihua - 597 417 190 8 1,212
Mr. Liu Xingguo - 537 680 180 8 1,415
Subtotal - 3,246 2,491 718 40 6,495
Supervisors:
Ms. Yin Guizhen - 439 207 - 5 651
Mr. Zhou
Wenxing - 323 - (184) 8 147
Mr. Chen
Weixiang - 215 7 - 8 230
Subtotal - 977 214 {184) 21 1,028
Total - 4,223 2,705 534 61 7,623

* Chief executive

There was no arrangement under which directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
Relevant Periods.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024, and six months
ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2025 included 1 director, 5 directors, 5 directors, 5 directors and 2
directors, respectively, details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024, and six months ended 30 June 2024
and 30 June 2025 of the remaining 4,nil,nil,nil and 3 highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Salaries, bonuses,
aliowances and
benefits in kind 3,057 - - - 3,581
Performance related
bonuses 2,489 - - - 1,195
Share-based
payment 8,666 - ~ - 351
Pension scheme
contributions 57 - - - 311
Total 14,269 - - - 5,439

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
(unaudited)
HK$1,500,000 to
HK$2,000,000 - - - - 2
HK$2,000,000 to
HK$2,500,000 - - - - 1
HK$3,500,000 to
HK$4,000,000 1 - - - _
HK$4,000,000 to
HK$4,500,000 3 - - - -
Total 4 - - - 3

During the Relevant Period, share options were granted to non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees in respect of his services to the Group, further details of which are included in the
disclosures in note 36 to the Financial information. The fair value of such options, which has been
recoghized in profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
amount included in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

10, INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Mainland China

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and the respective regulations (the “CIT Law"),
the subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are subject to CIT at a rate of 256% on the taxable
income except for certain subsidiaries which enjoy a preferential income tax rate.

(a) On 19 December 2022, the Company was accredited as a “High and New Technology Enterprise”
("HNTE"} and was entitled to a preferential CIT rate of 15% for the Relevant Periods. Certain
subsidiaries of the Company were also recognized as HNTEs, and the effective periods are as

follows:

Name Effective period
Hunan Zhongwei New Energy Technology Company Limited (" &8 ERMEERL

= O PP PPN PP 2021-2026
Guizhou Zhongwel Resources Recycling Industrial Development Company Limited ("l

o R g = =1 K DR UTUTTU OO OO 2022-2025
Hunan Zhongwei Intelligent Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (" {EEEEREEERAE") e 2023-2025
Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang Energy Storage Technology Company Limited (“& |+ {&#&

o b = = T O PP PP 2024-2026

* The qualification as a HNTE and the entitlement to a preferential tax rate of 15% from 2024 and
beyond were subject to extension.

(b) According to the tax regulations related to the Western Region Development Policy, the applicable
income tax rate is 15%, including Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy Technology Company Limited,
Guizhou Zhongwei New Material Trade Company Limited ("8 FEHARIBE B ARAT") and
Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang Energy Storage Technology Company Limited ("5 s {54 PR1ERER]
FEABRAF), and such tax concession was started on 1 January 2021, will expire on 31 December
2030.

(¢) According to the Notice of the People's Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region on
Issuing Supporting Policies for Promoting the High-quality Development of China (Guangxi) Pilot
Free Trade Zone(* {I"BEEARARBMFATOLE#HFE (A) BHAGHERSREX
BEBFHEMNREM) ). Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. also enjoys the
applicable income tax rate is 9% for the Relevant Periods .

(d) Several subsidiaries in PRC were qualified as small and micro-sized enterprises, which enjoyed a
corporate income tax incentive as follows:

According to the Announcement of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation
on Preferential Policies for the Income Tax of Small and Micro Enterprises and individual Industrial
and Commercial Households (“ (M6, MEBBETF AR ELIMEIE AR EHRABIEDN
AEY ™), the annual taxable income of small and micro-sized enterprises not exceeding RMB1
million is reduced by 25% of the taxable income and subject to enterprise income tax at a rate of
20%. According to the "Announcement of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of
Taxation on Further Implementation of Preferential Policies on [ncome Tax for Small and Micro
Enterprises” (* {M1ELER. $i% 2 BETFit—P i/ ME el FRERMBERAAED ") | for small
and micro-sized enterprises with an annual taxable income exceeding the annual taxable income
of small and micro-profit enterprises exceeding RMB1 million but not exceeding RMB3 million shall
be deducted by 25% from the taxable income and subject to enterprise income tax at a rate of 20%.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Mainland China (continued})

(e) According to the relevant provisions of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People's Republic of
China (" (SRt \REFE A FREHE) ) and State Council Order No.512 of the Regulation on
the implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the People's Republic of ("4 A R 3£
Bl FrSF A SE SR GI) (ESRSE5128) ), if the enterprise purchases and actually uses
the specially-purposed equipment for environment protection, energy and water saving and safety
production included in the list since 1 January 2018, 10% of the invested amounts for the specially-
purposed equipment can be used to deduct the taxable amount; if it is not enough to deduct the
enterprise’s taxable amount, it can be carried forward to the subsequent years, but the period shall
not exceed 5 taxpaying years.

Hong Kong
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 8.25% or 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profits for the Relevant Periods,

Indonesia
The income tax rate for companies incorporated in Indonesia is generally 22%, except those which are
subject to tax concessicn as set out below:

{a) PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia, a subsidiary of the Company, has been granted a corporate income
tax exemption by the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia. The sales of nickel metal products are exempt
from corporate income tax from the first year to the seventh year, and the corporate income tax is
halved from the eighth to the ninth year,

(b) PT Jade Bay Metal Industry, a subsidiary of the Company, has been granted a corporate income
tax exemption by the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia. The sales of nickel metal products are exempt
from corporate income tax from the first year to the seventh year, and the corporate income tax is
halved from the eighth to the ninth year.

(c) PT Nadesico Nickel Industry, a subsidiary of the Company, has been granted a corporate income
tax exemption by the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia. The sales of nickel metal products are exempt
from corporate income tax from the first year to the fifteenth year, and the corporate income tax is
halved from the sixteenth to the seventeenth year.

(d) PT Zhongtsing New Energy, a subsidiary of the Company, has obtained the enterprise income tax
exemption document issued by the Ministry of Finance of Indonesia. The sales of nickel metal
products, of which the enterprise income tax is exempted from the first year to the seventh year for
the first-phase project, and the corporate income tax is halved from the eighth to the ninth year. The
sales of is exempt from corporate income tax from the first year to the eighth year, and the enterprise
income tax is halved from the ninth year to the tenth year for the second phase of the project.

Additional deduction for research and development expense

According to the announcement of the Ministry of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation on
further improving the policy of pre-tax deduction of R&D expenses (No.7 in 2023), if the R&D expenses
actually incurred in the R&D activities of enterprises do not form intangible assets and are included in
the current profits and losses, on the basis of actual deduction according to regulations, from 1 January
2023, 100% of the actual amount incurred will be additionally deducted before tax; Intangible assets are
amortized at 200% of the cost of intangible assets before tax from 1 January 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Corporate income tax in other jurisdictions:

Name Tax rate
The Company 15.00%
Hunan Zhongwei New Energy Technology Company Limited ("R =R {5385

R ERAE" 15.00%
Guizhou Zhongwei Resources Recycling Industrial Development Company

Limited ("8 RIS BIRETR Ul R RERAT") 15.00%
Hunan Zhongwei Intelligent Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (" HEEEFIEHERA

&") 15.00%
Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy Technology Company Limited ("I~ {53 EiE

BHEARAFE" 9.00%
Guangxi CNGR Zhengyuan Trading Co., Lid. (J"ERBEREHFRATED 9.00%
Guizhou Zhongwei New Material Company Limited ("8 s E#i#H R BGRA

&1") 15.00%
Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang Energy Storage Technology Company Limited ("2

P R S PR RERHR B IR AR 15.00%
CNGR Hong Kong Material Science & Technology Co., Ltd. it & B4

Al 8.25%. 16.50%
Debonair Holdings Private Limited and other companies domiciled in Singapore 17.00%
PT Zhongtsing New Energy and other companies domiciled in Indonesia 22.00%
CNGR Zimbabwe New Energy Technology Co. (Private) Limited 25.75%
CNGR Morocco New Energy Technology 34.00%
CNGR Europe New Energy Technology GmbH 31.925%
CNGR Japan New Energy Technology Co., Ltd 34.59%
CNGR Luxembourg New Energy Technology S.A R.L. 21.73%
CNGR Nethelands New Energy Technology B.V. and other companies

domiciled in the Netherlands 25.80%
KINO Engery Solutions Co.,Ltd and other companies domiciled in Korea 26.40%
Wintru S.R.L and other companies domiciled in Argentina 35.00%
Subsidiaries other than the above 25.00%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE {continued)

OECD Pillar Two model rules

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two mode! rules released by the Organization for Economic
Co-operation and Development ("OECD"). The Pillar Two legislation had become effective in certain
jurisdictions on 1 January 2024 during the Relevant Periods. The Group applies the exception to
recognizing and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related to Pillar Two
income taxes, as provided in the amendments to IAS 12. Under the Pillar Two legislation, the Group is
liable to pay a top-up tax for difference between its Global Anti-Base Erosion ("GIoBE”) effective tax rate
in each jurisdiction and the 15% minimum rate. The Group management's assessment indicates that
the quantitative impact of the Pillar Two legislation is insignificant to the Group.

The income tax expense of the Group for the Relevant Periods is analyzed as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six menths ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Current 193,797 263,904 195,691 111,617 116,876

Deferred (note 21) (40,233) 16,506 39,098 41,897 4527
Total tax charge for

the year 153,564 280,410 234,788 153,514 121,403
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory rate to the tax expense

at the effective tax rate is as follows:

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024

2024

2025

RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000

Profit before tax 1,692,990 2,380,899 2,022 544

RMB'000
(unaudited)

1,309,346

RME'000

827,053

Tax at the applicable

PRC enterprise

income tax rate 253,949 357,135 303,382
Adjustment for

different tax rates

of certain

companies 22,160 107,916 154,260
Adjustments in

respect of current

tax of previous

periods 1,536 {B,584) 7,014
Income not subject

to tax {2,718) (119,640) (325,610)
Expenses not

deductible for tax 4,799 30,161 8,413
Utilization of

previously

unrecognized tax

losses and

temporary

differences - - (272)
Tax losses and

temporary

differences not

recognized 8,916 25,350 79,198
Additional deduction

of research and

development

expenses {133,000) (97,487) (82,253)
Effect of withholding

tax from foreign

operations - 22,126 87,794
Effect of special

equipment on

income tax credit (2,622) (36,925) (534)
Others 544 358 3,397

196,402

7,280

2,387
(67,720)
663

5,079

(48,737)

49,404

(1,380)
126

124,058

(55,227)
2,527

(66,284)
9,656
(4,034)

130,428

(50,443)

29,690

1,032

Tax charge at the
Group's effective
tax rate 153,564 280,410 234,789

153,614

121,403
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

1.

12

DIVIDEND
Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

Ordinary A shares
Interim - - 260,460 - -
Final dividend in

respect of the

previous year,

declared and paid

during the

following year (tax

inclusive) 101,753 173,023 772,489 772,489 328,451
Dividends of lapsed

restricted shares - (344) (1,813) (1,813) (3,218)
Total 101,753 172,679 1,031,136 770,676 325,233

The final dividends of RMB1.67, RMB2.58, RMB 11.60 per 10 ordinary share (tax inclusive) in respect
of the years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 were approved by the Annual General Meeting
of the Company.

The interim dividend distribution of RMB2.80 per 10 ordinary share in respect of the six months ended
30 June 2024 was approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 15 May 2024 and was
subsequently paid on 15 October 2024,

The final dividend of RMB3.60 per 10 ordinary shares (tax inclusive) in respect of the year ended 31
December 2024 was approved by the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 6 May 2025 and was
paid on 29 May 2025.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 858,782,634, 932,750,067
and 927,362,524 for the year end 2022, 2023 and 2024, 928,870,306 and 930,919,180 for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and 2025, cutstanding during the Relevant Periods, as adjusted to reflect the bonus
share issue during the Relevant Periods.

In May 2024, the Group issues 4 shares for every 10 shares from capital reserve to all shareholders for
a total of 266,375,601 shares in accordance with the announcement of the implementation of the 2023
annual dividend distribution. If the number of issued and outstanding common shares or potential
common shares increases as a result of stock dividends, capitalization of capital reserves, stock splits,
or decreases as a resuit of stock consolidation, but does not affect the amount of owner's equity,
earnings per share for each of the periods presented should be recalculated on the basis of the adjusted
number of shares.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts is based on the profit for the year attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, as used in the basic earnings
per share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares
into crdinary shares,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

12.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

{continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:

Earnings:

Profit attributable to
ordinary equity
holders of the
parent, used in the
basic earnings per
share calculation:

Shares:

Weighted average
number of ordinary
shares in issue

Effect of dilution —
weighted average
number of ordinary
shares;

Share options

Total

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)
1,548,644 1,947,559 1,467,224 863,235 735,102
Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
{unaudited)

858,782,634 932,750,067 927,362,524

- 556,567 929,328

858,782,634 033,306,634 928,291,852

928,870,306 930,819,180

928,870,306 830,918,180

*  The weighted average number of shares was after taking into account the effect of treasury shares held.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

13,

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Certain of the Group’s property, plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of approximately
RMB574,106,000, RMB2,684,946,000 and RMB1,927,651,000, and RMB1,547,271,000 as at 31 December
2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025 respectively, were pledged as securities for bank loan facilities granted
to the Group (note 30).

At 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025 the Group had vet to obtain building ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book wvalue of approximately RMB1,947,803,000,
RMB1,928,388,000 and RMB1,060,676,000, and RMB996,697,000 respectively.

Certain of the Company's buildings with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB31,764,000,
RMB114,784,000 and RMB111,567,000, and RMB109,579,000 as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and
30 June 2025, respectively, were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to a subsidiary of the
Company {note 30).

At 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Company had yet to obtain building ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately RMB317,002,000, RMB208,989,000
and RMB11,232,000, and nil respectively

During the Relevant Pericd, depreciation of property, plant and equipment of RMB497,535,000,
RMB843,589,000, RMB1,391,610,000, and RMB983,677,000 were included in the consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the remaining RMBS,583,000, RMB53,412,000,
RMB1,034,000, and RMB5,916,000 were capitalized in construction in progress.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

14.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Group
Mining right Software and others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2022
At 1 January 2022:
Cost - 19,577 19,577
Accumulated amortization - (5,311} (5,311)
Net carrying amount - 14,266 14,266
At 1 January 2022, net of accumulated
amortization - 14,266 14,266
Additions - 6,191 6,191
Amortization provided during the year - (4,526) {4,526)
Exchange realignment - - -
At 31 December 2022, net of
accumulated amoertization - 15,931 15,931
At 31 December 2022;
Cost - 25768 25,768
Accumulated amortization - {(9,837) {9,837)
Net carrying amount - 15,931 15,931
Mining right Software and others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2023
At 1 January 2023
Cost - 25,768 25,768
Accumulated amortization - (9,837) (9,837)
Net carrying amount - 15,931 15,931
At 1 January 2023, net of accumulated
amortization - 15,931 15,931
Additions - 21,739 21,739
Amortization provided during the year - {7,202) (7,202)
At 31 December 2023, net of
accumulated amortization - 30,468 30,468
At 31 December 2023;
Cost - 47 507 47,507
Accumulated amortization - (17,039) {17,038)
Net carrying amount - 30,468 30,468
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

14.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS {continued)

The Group (continued)

31 December 2024

At 1 January 2024:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2024, net of
accumulated amortization

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries*

Amortization provided during the
year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024, net of
accumulated amortization

At 31 December 2024:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

30 June 2025

At 1 January 2025:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2025, net of
accumulated amortization

Additions

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note

41)

Amortization provided during the
period

Exchange realignment

At 30 June 2025, net of
accumulated amortization

At 30 June 2025:
Cost
Accumulated amortization

Net carrying amount

Mining right Software and others Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
- 47,507 47,507

- (17,039) (17,039)

- 30,468 30,468

- 30,468 30,468

- 5822 5,822

610,334 1 610,335
- (9,276) (9,276)

11,345 2 11,347
621,679 27,017 648,696
621679 53,332 675,011
- (26,315) (26,315)

621,679 27,017 648,696
Mining right Software and others Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
621,679 53,332 675,011
- (26,315) (26,315)

621,679 27,017 648,696
621,679 27,017 648,696
63,414 10,298 73,712
572,912 - 572,912
- (5,157) (5,157)
(18,092) 4 (18,088)
1,239,913 32,162 1,272,075
1,239,913 63,634 1,303,547
- (31,472) (31.472)
1,239,913 32,162 1,272,075
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

14.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The Company

Software

At beginning of year/period:
Cost

Accumutated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At beginning of year/period, net
of accumulated depreciation

Additions

Amortization provided during the
year/period

At end of year/period, net of
accumulated depreciation

At end of year/period:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
16,091 21,638 32,734 38,432
(4,552) (8,503) (14,080) {21,307)
11,639 13,135 18,654 17,125
11,539 13,135 18,654 17,125
5,547 11,086 5,698 8,665
(3,951) (8,577) (7,227) {4,037)
13,135 18,654 17,125 21,753
21,638 32,734 38,432 47,097
(8,503) (14,080) (21,307) (25,344)
13,135 18,654 17,125 21,753
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

15.

GOODWILL

At beginning of year:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Net of accumulated
impairment

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(note 41)

Exchange realignment

At end of year
At end of year:
Cost
Accumulated impairment

Net carrying amount

Impairment testing of goodwill

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
- 1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799

- 1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799

- 1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799
1,283,731 - 55,932 -
42,060 22,481 20,6805 (5,8086)
1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799 1,418,893
1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799 1,418,893
1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799 1,418,893

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the following cash-generating units for

impairment testing:

» PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia cash-generating unit; and
* PT Jade Bay Metal Industry cash-generating unit.

*» FINO Inc. cash-generating unit.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

PT Debonair Nickel
Indonesia

PT Jade Bay Metal
Industry

FINO Inc.

Total

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'C00 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
1,062,897 1,070,853 1,086,834 1,082,329
272,784 277,409 281,549 280,382

- - 56,416 56,182
1,325,781 1,348,262 1,424,799 1,418,893
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

15.

GOODWILL (continued)

PT Debaonair Nickel Indonesia cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the industrial products cash-generating unit has been determined based on
a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year
period approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
was 14.48%, 12.70%, and 12.36%, and 12.63% as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June
2025, respectively. The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the industrial products unit
beyond the five-year period is 0%, 0%, and 0%, and 0% at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30
June 2025, respectively. Senior management of the PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia unit believes that this
growth rate is justified, given the new technology internally developed by the Group during the year. The
Group is the pioneer of such technology which has reduced the cost and time of production, and these
industrial products qualify for a major product of the Group.

PT Jade Bay Metal Industry cash-generaling unit

In 2023, the recoverable amount of the PT Jade Bay Metal Industry cash-generating unit was determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 16.15%, 12.95%, and 12.85%, and 12.52% as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024,
and 30 June 2025, respectively and cash flows beyond the five-year period were extrapolated using a
growth rate of 0%, 0%, and 0%, and 0% as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025,
respectively, which was the same as the long term average growth rate of the electronic products
industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the Debonair Holdings Private Limited and PT
Jade Bay Metal Industry cash generating units for 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June
2025, The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Compound growth rate of revenue — The basis is determined with reference to the average revenue
achieved in the years before the budgeted year, increased for management's expectation of the future
market,

Gross margin — The basis used to determine with reference to the average gross margin achieved in
the year before the budget year, increased for management's expectation of the future market.

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects specific risks relating to the
relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of industrial products and electronic
products industries and discount rates are consistent with external information sources.

Impact of possible changes in key assumptions

PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia cash-generating unit

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been conducted by management as of
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, according to IAS 36 "Impairment of assets™. The
headroom measured by the excess of the recoverable amount over the carrying amount of the industrial
products cash-generating unit was RMB355,728,000, RMB122,414,000, and RMB75,421,000 and
RMB50,037,000 as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, respectively. Based on
the results of the impairment assessments, no impairment-loss on the goodwill relating to the industrial
products cash-generating unit was recognised as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June
2025.

The Group performed the sensitivity analysis based on the assumption that the compound growth
rate of revenue, gross margin and pre-tax discount rate has been changed. Had the estimated key
assumption during the forecast period been changed as below, the headroom would have decreased to
the following:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

15.

16.

GOODWILL (continued)
Impact of possible changes in key assumptions (continued)
PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia cash-generating unit (continued)

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, respectively, based on reasonably
possible changes in these key assumptions, including compound growth rate of revenue reduced 0.27%,
0.08% and 0.05% and 0.01%, gross margin reduced 6.42%, 2.00% ,1.78% ,and 0.40% or discount rate
increased 1.20%, 0.29%, 0.23%,1.20%, respectively, with all other variables held constant, there is no
shortfall of the recoverable amount against its carrying amount.

Considering that there was sufficient headroom based on the assessment, the directors of the
Company believe that any reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

PT Jade Bay Metal Industry cash-generating unit

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been conducted by management as of
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, according to IAS 38 "Impairment of assets”. The
headroom measured by the excess of the recoverable amount over the carrying amount of the industrial
products cash-generating unit was RMB882,257,000, RMB520,838,000, and RMB86,659,000 and
RMB72,119,000 as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, respectively. Based on
the results of the impairment assessments, no impairment loss on the goodwill relating to the industrial
products cash-generating unit was recognised as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June
2025,.

The Group performed the sensitivity analysis based on the assumption that the compound growth
rate of revenue, gross margin and pre-tax discount rate has been changed. Had the estimated key
assumption during the forecast pericd been changed as below, the headroom would have decreased to
the following:

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, respectively, based on reasonably
possible changes in these key assumptions, including compound growth rate of revenue reduced to
1.01%, 0.57% and 0.08% and 0.04%, Gross margin reduced 24.25%, 16.65% and 4.50% and 2.50% or
discount rate increased 6.77%, 3.03%, 0.59%, 1.30%, respectively, with all other variables held
constant, there is no shortfall of the recoverable amount against its carrying amount.

Considering that there was sufficient headroom based on the assessment, the directors of the

Company believe that any reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets 206,290 1,978,467 2,354,322 2,382,782
Goodwill on acquisition - - - -
Total 206,290 1,978,467 2,354,322 2,382,782

The Group's trade receivable balances and other receivable balances due from the joint ventures are
disclosed in note 42 to the Financial information, respectively.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's joint ventures that are
not individually material:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

16.  INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES (continued)

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Share of the joint
ventures’ profit/(loss) ’ :
for the year 133 (17.951) 39,701 3,673
Share of the joint
ventures’ other
comprehensive
income/(loss) - 3,598 (2,350) 65
Share of the joint
ventures’ total
comprehensive
income/{loss) 133 (14,353) 37,351 3,738
Aggregate carrying ‘

amount of the Group's
investments in the joint
veniures 206,290 1,978,467

2,354,322 2,382,782

The Group's shareholdings in the joint venture are all held by the Company indirectly.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

17()). INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

Investment costs:

Hunan Zhongwei New Energy Technology
Company Limited

Hunan Zhongwei Zhengyuan New Material
Trading Company

Limited

Guizhou Zhongwei Resources Recycling
Industrial

Development Company Limited

Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy Technology
Company

Limited

Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang Energy Storage
Technology

Company Limited

Guizhou Zhongwei New Energy Technology
GCo., Ltd.* (B s @ HERRHR AR )
Hunan Zhongwel Intelligence Manufacturing
Co., Lid.* (Hifh {2 S aEFIEHIRAF)
Guizhou Zhongwei Energy Storage
Technology Co., Ltd.*

(W PEERRERHE AR R)

Guangxi Zhongwei New Material Technology
Co., Ltd. * (B P EITMRFEHRERAR)
Guizhou Zhongwei New Material Company
Limited

CNGR Hong Kong Material Science &
Technology Co., Limited

Zoomwe Hong Kong New Energy Technology
Co., Ltd.

Singapore CNGR New Energy and
Technology Pte., Lid.

CNGR Japan New Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd.

PT Zhongwei Eco Energy Indonesia

PT Zhongtsing New Energy

Guizhou Zhongwei Xingyang Mining Co., Ltd.*
(e H R R AT B IRATD)

CNGR Europe New Energy Technology
GmbH

C&P Advanced Material Technology Co., Lid.

Total

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RME'000
3,317,284 3,324,042 4,341,227 4,344,589
1,703,057 1,703,864 1,704,996 1,705,208
403,199 404,533 406,046 408,353
4,089,314 4,004,842 4,909,060 4,910,118
977,964 1,631,173 1,635,363 1,635,778
975,000 1,304,696 1,304,696 1,531,323
50,582 51,406 51,088 50,292
500 1,746 1,745 801,745
54,500 54,500 54,500 84,500
950,000 950,000 950,000 950,000
2,920,077 3,170,506 3,171,985 3,172,964
1,548,883 - - -
7,309 165,838 165,838 165,838

- 75 187 217

- 225 609 342

- 199 352 391

- . 65 15

- - 114 173

- - 127 333
16,997,669 17,667,644 18,697,998 19,760,177

* The English names of the entities registered in Mainland China represent the best efforts made by the
management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as they did not register any official

English name.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

17. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
17(ii}. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Share of net assets 63,732 197,215 1,707,361 1,760,375
Goodwill on acquisition - - - -
Total 63,732 197,215 1,707,361 1,760,375
The Group's trade receivables due from the associate are disclosed in note 42 to the Financial
information.
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Share of net assets 525 - - -

Goodwill on acquisition - - - -

Total 525 - - -

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the Group's associate that are not
individually material:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Share of the associates’

(loss)/profit for the year (782) 2,006 10,682 2,939
Share of the associates'

total comprehensive

{loss)/income (3,326) 301 (18,048) 8,861
Share of the asscciates’

total comprehensive

{loss)/income (4,108) 2,307 (7.4686) 11,800
Aggregate carrying

amount of the Group’s

investment in the

associates 63,732 197,215 1,707,361 1,760,375
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

18. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME
The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Equity investments
designated at fair value
through other
comprehensive income
Listed equity investments, at
fair value
Ganzhou Tengyuan Cobalt
New Material Co., Ltd. {"
BB A R R 1
BIRAF" 68,408 52,952 60,807 71,446
Rept Batiero Energy Co.,
Ltd. ("ER= R0 AR A
ARATF" - 380,221 222,882 225,718
SungEel Hitech Co.Ltd 176,713 134,504 37,433 37,258
CALB Group Co., Ltd. ("/
BUEAR SR B EIRAT
! 156,772 164,718 122,991 161,054
Sunwoda Electronic Co.,
Ltd. ("FREEIAELFRRIAAE
FRAT" 95,776 104,594 77,847 75,791
Total 497,669 836,989 521,960 571,267
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Equity investments
designated at fair value
through other
comprehensive income
Listed equity investments, at
fair value
Ganzhou Tengyuan Cobalt
New Material Co., Lid. {"
BEMN BT EE Al AT R B A
HRLF" 68,408 52,952 60,807 71,448
Rept Battera Energy Co.,
Ltd. ("ERiR = REIRAZID
FRAT" - 380,221 222,882 225,718
Total 68,408 433,173 283,689 297,164

The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at fair value through other comprehensive

income as the Group considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

18.

18.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

In December 2023, July 2024 and March 2025, the Group disposed of 128,000 shares, 10,884 shares
and 20,000 shares of Sunwoda Electronic Co., Ltd. respectively, as these investments had no
substantial advancement of industrial synergies in the previous periods. The accumulated gains
previously recognized in other comprehensive income of RMB43,925,000, RMB1,986,000 and
RMB111,000 were all transferred to retained earnings.

During 2022, 2023, 2024, and six months ended 30 June 2025, the Group received dividends of
RMB2,293,000, RMB1,242,000 and RMB2,018,000, and RMBE73,000, respectively, from Ganzhou
Tengyuan Cobalt New Material Co., Ltd.

During 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Group received dividends of nil, RMB355,000, and RMB539,000,
respectively, from Sunwoda Electronic Co., Ltd., with an additional RMB656,000 declared by the
company during the first half of 2025 but not yet received as of 30 June 2025.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Current Portion
Structured deposits * - - 2,010,872 1,130,775
others - - 1,282 2,244
- - 2,012,154 1,133,019
Non-Current Portion
Other unlisted investment,
at fair value™ 300,000 - 28,000 28,000
Total 300,000 - 2,040,154 1,161,019
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000D RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Current Portion
Structured deposits - - - 150,784
Non-Current Portion
Other unlisted
investments, at fair value 300,000 - 28,000 28,000

*As of 31 December 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group held structured deposits with a balance of
RMB2,010,872,000 and RMB1,130,775,000, acquired using temporarily idle funds to enhance capital
utilization efficiency. These structured deposits, with maturities ranging from 1 month to 6 months, are
linked to the price performance of foreign exchange rates and others during the observation period and
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

** The above unlisted investment was the investment in Rept Battero Energy Co., Ltd., which has been
derecognized as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and recognized as equity investment
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, as the repurchase clause in the
shareholders’ agreement automatically became void upon investee's listing on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

19.

20.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

In December 2024, the Group invested RMB28,000,000 in Changsha Gongrong Innovation No.1 Equity
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership) (the "Fund"). The Group had no significant impact
on the Fund.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office building, dormitories, plants and others used
in its operations. Leases of office building and plant generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.
(a) Right-of-use assets

The Group

The carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets and the movements during the year/period are as
follows:

Leasehold

Buildings Machine land Total

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

As at 1 January 2022 18,046 157,704 772,382 948,132
Additions 20,246 - 305,874 326,120

Transfer to fixed assets

(note 13) - {1580,254) - {150,254)
Early lease termination (2,552) - - (2,552)
Depreciation charge (12,581) (7,450) (19,098) (38,129)
As at 31 December 2022 23,159 - 1,059,158 1,082,317
Buildings Leasehold land Total

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

As at 1 January 2023 23,159 1,059,158 1,082,317
Additions 16,366 602,990 619,356
Early lease termination (3,301) - (3,301)
Depreciation charge (18,968) (30,087) (49,053)
Exchange realignment 82 - 82
As at 31 December 2023 17,340 1,632,081 1,649,401
Buildings Leasehold fand Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000

As at 1 January 2024 17,340 1,632,081 1,649,401
Additions 46,523 159 46,682
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41) 23 4,040 4,063
Depreciation charge (17,491) (34,366) (51,857)
Early lease termination (875) - {875)
Exchange realignment 19 82 101
As at 31 December 2024 45,539 1,601,976 1,647,515
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

20. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The Group (continued)

Buildings Leasehold land Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2025 45,539 1,601,976 1,647,515
Additions 365 109,445 109,810
Depreciation charge (12,088) (18,089) (30,177)
Early lease termination {978} - (978)
Exchange realignment {71} {468) (539)
As at 30 June 2025 32,767 1,692,864 1,725,631
The Company
Leasehold
Buildings Machine Total
RMB'000 RME’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2022 4,364 49,144 3,974 145,482
Early lease termination (2,551) (47,850) - (50,401)
Depreciation charge (1,047) (1,294) (2,119) {(4,460)
As at 31 December 2022 766 - 89,855 90,621
Buildings Leasehold land Total
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2023 766 89,855 90,621
Depreciation charge (574) (2,120} (2,694)
As at 31 December 2023 192 87,735 87,927
Buildings Leasehold land Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
As at 1 January 2024 192 87,735 87,927
Additions 31,544 - 31,544
Depreciation charge (6,408) (2,119) (8,527)
As at 31 December 2024 25,328 85,618 110,944
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

20.

LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The Company (continued)

Buildings Leasehold land Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
As at 1 January 2025 25,328 85,616 110,944
Depreciation charge (5,832) (1,080} {(6.892)
As at 30 June 2025 19,496 84,556 104,052

Certain of the Group's leasehold land with a net carrying amount of approximately RMB313,634,000,
RMB321,671,000 and RMB318,260,000, and RMB314,739,000 as at 31 December 2022 ,2023 and
2024, and 30 June 2025, respectively, were pledged to secure certain bank [oans granted to a subsidiary
of the Company (ncte 30).

During the Relevant Periods, depreciation of right-of-use assets of RMB33,952,000, RMB49,053,000,
RMB423,810,000, and RMB27,429,000 were included in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the remaining RMB5,177,000, nil, RMB8,047,000, and nil were capitalized
in canstruction in progress.

(b) Lease liabilities

The Group

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’Q00 RMB'000 RMB'000

Carrying amount at 31
December 27,121 19,170 44,717 31,243

Analyzed into:

Current portion 18,394 10,565 18,893 15,808
Non-current portion 8,727 8,605 25,824 15,435
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued})

20.

LEASES {(continued)

The Group as a lessee {continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (continued)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 44 to the Financial information.

Carrying amount at 1
January

New leases

Accretion of interest

recognised during the

year/period
Early lease termination
Payments

Carrying amount at 31
December

Analyzed into:
Current portion
Non-current portion

The Company

Carrying amount at 31
December

Analyzed into;
Current portion
Non-current portion

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
21,303 27,121 19,170 44 717
21,326 15,083 49452 494
1,176 3,007 2,059 1,084
(1,080) (7,425) {1,030) (342)
(15,604) {18,596) (24,934) (14,710)
27,121 19,170 44 717 31,243
18,394 10,565 18,893 15,808
8,727 8,605 25,824 15,435

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEBE'000 RMB'000
1,845 1,703 24,495 18,797
1,845 1,703 11,432 9,797

- - 13,063 9,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

20. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b} Lease liabilities (continued)
The Company (continued)

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Carrying amount at 1
January 4,957 1,845 1,703 24,495
New leases - - 32,574 -
Accretion of interest
recognised during the
year/period 203 9 604 548
Payments (3,315) (151) (10,386) (6,246)
Carrying amount at 31
December 1,845 1,703 24,495 18,797
Analyzed into;
Current portion 1,845 1,703 11,432 9,797
Non-current portion - - 13,063 9,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

20. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognized in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

The Group
As at 30 June As at 30
Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
{unaudited)

Interest on lease
liabilities 1,176 3,007 2,059 1,011 1,084
Depreciaticn charge

of right-of-use

assets 33,852 48,053 43,810 27,180 30,041
Expense related to
short-term leases 6,214 8,747 21,951 6,761 8,674

Total amount
recognized in profit

or loss 41,342 60,807 67,820 34,852 39,799
The Company
As at 30 June As at 30
Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
{unaudited)

Interest on lease
liabilities 125 8 604 138 548
Depreciation charge

of right-of-use

assets 4,460 2,694 8,527 1,974 6,892
Expense related to
short-term leases 244 47 1,651 921 277

Total amount
recognized in profit
or loss 4,829 2,750 10,782 3,033 7,717

‘The total cash outflow for leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed in note 39(b), to the
Financial information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued})

20. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its office buildings in Mainland China under operating lease arrangements. The terms
of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. Details of rental income recognized by
the Group during the Relevant Periods are included in note 5 to the Financial information.

The undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Within one year 917 11,042 5,539 4,836
After one year but within
two years 11,042 5,539 4153 2,764
After two years but within
three years 5,539 4,153 25 11
After three years but
within four years 4,153 25 9 4
Adter four years but within
five years 25 9 - -
After five years 9 - - -
Total 21,685 20,768 9,726 7,615
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

21.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The Company
Depreciation
allowance in Fair value
excess of adjustments
related of financial Right-of-use
depreciation instruments assets Total
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2022 95,436 - 830 96,266
Deferred tax credited to the
consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
during the year {4,595) - (715) (5,310)
Deferred tax liabilities at 31
December 2022 80,841 - 115 90,856
Deferred tax
(credited)/charged to the
consoclidated statements
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
during the year {8,258) 4,978 (86) (3,368)
Deferred tax liabilities at 31
December 2023 82,583 4,976 29 87,588
Deferred tax
(credited)/charged to the
consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
during the year {10,899) (2,462) 3,771 (9,590)
Deferred tax liabilities at 31
December 2024 71,684 2,514 3,800 77.998
Deferred tax
(credited)/charged to the
consolidated statements
of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income
during the year {4,178) (752) (876) {(5,808)
Deferred tax liabilities at 30
June 2025 67,506 1,762 2,924 72,192
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

21,

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

There was no income tax or withholding tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders during the Relevant Periods.

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated
statements of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group
for financial reporting purposes:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Net deferred tax assets

recognized in the

consolidated statement

of financial position 69,826 48,296 121,595 107,727
Net deferred tax liabilities

recognized in the

consolidated statement

of financial position (132,127) {152,818) {215,403) {214,704)

Net deferred tax liabilities (62,301) {104,622} (93,808) (108,977)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilized.

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Company for financial reporting purposes:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Net deferred tax assets

recognized in the

consolidated statement

of financial position - - - -
Net deferred tax liabilities

recognized in the

consolidated statement

of financial position (66,598) (70,322) {41,993) (33,895)
Net deferred tax liabilities {66,598) {70,322) (41,993) {33,895)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

21.

22.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Tax losses not

recognized 130,168 159,187 430,705 979,767

Deductible temporary
differences 5,281 22,194 95,845 52,138
135,449 181,381 526,550 1,031,905

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the above items as it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which the above items can be utilized.

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Exploration and
development costs - - 70,312 67,044
Prepayments for
equipment 2,100,373 1,253,235 923,895 514,848
Prepayments for land 396,832 136,851 145,452 50,401
Prepayments for equity
investment (Notes) 257,270 490,335 608,222 892 380
Impairment - - (18,773) {18,613)
2,754,475 1,880,421 1,729,108 1,506,060
Notes:

{a) As of 31 December 2023, the prepaid equity investment payment of USD69,230,000 relates to the
advance payment made for the acquisition of equity in Hanking (Indonesia) Mining Limited. The
equity transfer had not been completed by that date.

{b) As of 31 December 2024, significant prepayments for equity investments are as follows:

(i} USDB5,000,000 of the prepayment for equity investment represents an advance payment made
by a subsidiary for the acquisition of additional equity interest in Hanking (Indonesia) Mining
Limited (HML), which is indirectly held by Hanking Industrial Group Company Limited, pursuant
to the strategic cooperation framework agreement signed with Hanking Industrial Group
Company Limited.

(i) USD12,750,000 of the prepayment for equity investment was paid by a subsidiary pursuant to
the acquisition contract with Lilac Sclutions Argentina LLC, Lilac Solutions Jama LLC and Lilac
Solutions, Inc. The payment relates to the acquisition of the Company Units associated with the
lithium mining assets held by Wintru S.R.L..
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
22. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

Note: (continued)

{ii) USD2,612,000 of the prepaid equity investment was provided by the subsidiary Nadesco Nickel
Ltd. in accordance with the strategic cooperation framework agreement signed with PT
Alchemist Metal Industry (AMI), which had not been in operation for a extended period and
exhibited indications of impairment. Therefore, the prepaid equity investment was fully impaired.

(c) As of 30 June 2025, Significant prepayments for equity investments are as follows:

() USD65,000,000 of the prepayment for equity investment is consistent with the amount reported
for the previous year .

(il USD2,612,000 out of the prepaid equity investment for PT Alchemist Metal Industry (AMI), is
consistent with the amount reported for the previous year.

(iiy USD43,580,000 of the prepayment for equity investment was paid by a subsidiary, pursuant to
the acquisition contract with Lithium Energy Limited, for the acquisition of 90% of the issued
shares in Solaroz S.A,;

(iv) USD13,475,000 of the prepayment for equity investment was paid by a subsidiary, pursuant to
the acquisition contract with Top Network Profits Limited, for the acquisition of PT Sinar
Karyagamma Primatama.

The Company

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Prepayments for
equipment 7,599 10,986 10,504 11,333
Impairment - - - -
7,599 10,986 10,504 11,333
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

23.

INVENTORIES

The Group

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Goods in transit

Total

The Company

Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
(Goods in transit

Total

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
3,565,356 4,260,057 4,622 549 4,837 524
2,546,575 1,794,045 2,802,259 3,258,627
3,282,594 1,776,956 1,833,108 2,014,640
225 680 98,015 568,450 115,960
9,620,205 7,929,073 9,826,364 10,226,751

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RME’000 RMB'000
344,312 471,884 209,066 277,566
1,285,958 773,211 685,809 606,534
605,546 572,529 496,666 437,820
93,857 27,641 28,173 13,504
2,339,673 1,845,265 1,429,804 1,335,224

At 31 December 2022, 2023 ,2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group's inventories with a carrying amount of
nil, RMB641,767,000, nil and nil were pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans, as further detailed
in note 30 to the Financial information.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

24,

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Trade receivables 4,491 262 3,797,813 4,384,307 5241214
Bills receivables 641,264 1,386,945 773,085 490,170
Impairment (55,074) (44,920) {51,580) (71,975)
Net carrying amount 5,077,452 5,139,838 5,105,812 5,659,409
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables: 2,040,755 1,201,123 1,944,324 1,392,893
Amount due from the
intra-group companies 368,211 238,594 919,109 266,277
Others 1,672,544 962,529 1,025,215 1,126,616
Bills receivables 242 796 373,440 207,390 99,883
Impairment (21,223) {11,868) {11,179) {(15,665)
Net carrying amount 2,262,328 1,562,695 2,140,535 1,477,111

Trade receivables mainly arise from the provision of lithium battery precursor materials. The Group
periodically conducts credit evaluations of customers who trade on credit. Based on the results of the
credit evaluations, the Group selects to transact with approved and-creditworthy customers and monitors
their receivable balances to ensure that the Company is not exposed to significant bad debt risk.

No collateral is required as the Group only deals with approved and creditworthy third parties, Credit risk
concentration is managed on a customer-by-customer basis. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing.

The Group's bills receivables were all accepted by banks and aged within one year, which were neither
past due nor impaired.

As of 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, bills receivable of RME198,074,000,
RMB1,035,549,000 and RMB453,533,000, and RMB248,806,000 whose fair values approximate to their
carrying values, were classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
respectively, and the remaining bills receivable were measured at amortized cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

24,

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aging analysis of the trade receivables of the Group as at the end of each of the Relevant Periods
(based on the invoice date and net of provisions) is as follows:

The Group

Within 3 months
4 to 12 months
110 2 years

2 to 3 years

Total

The Company

Within 3 months
4 to 12 months
1to 2 years
21to 3 years

Total

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

The Group

At beginning of year

Impairment/ (reversal of
impairment) of trade
receivables, net (note 6)

Amount written off as
uncollectible

Exchange realignment

At end of year

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMEB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
4,246,148 3,649,669 4,171,727 4,798,869
189,363 102,213 156,272 367,629
603 635 4,682 10,753

74 376 46 1,988
4,436,188 3,752,893 4,332,727 5,168,239

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,961,544 1,097,993 1,737,663 1,194,956
57,562 620 195,292 178,541
426 90,376 190 3,541

- 266 - 190
2,019,632 1,188,255 1,033,145 1,377,228

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
48,328 55,074 44,920 51,580
6,116 (10,341) 9,151 20,977

- - (2,893) -

630 187 402 (582)
55,074 44,920 51,580 71,975
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

24,

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES {continued)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade receivables are as follows: (continued)

The Company

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At beginning of
year/pericd 18,813 21,223 11,868 11,179
Impairment losses, net 2,410 (9,355) (689) 4,486
At end of year/period 21,223 11,868 11,179 15,665

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a
provision matrix:

The Group

As at 31 December 2022

Within 3 41012 over 3
months months 1to2years 2to3years years Total
Expected credit
loss rate 1% 5% 20% 50% 100% 1.23%
Gross carrying
amount
{RMB'000) 4,289,040 199,329 753 148 1,092 4,491,262
Expected credit
losses
{RMB'000) 42 891 9,966 151 74 1,892 55,074

As at 31 December 2023

Within 3 41012 over 3
months months  1to2years 2to 3 years years Total

Expected credit

loss rate 1% 5% 20% 50% 100% 1.18%
Gross carrying

amount

(RMB'000) 3,688,534 107,592 794 753 2,140 3,797,813
Expected credit

losses

{(RMB'000) 36,865 5,380 159 376 2,140 44,920
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES {continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a

provision matrix: (continued)
The Group (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Within 3
months
Expected credit
loss rate 1%
Gross carrying
amount
(RMB'000) 4,213,865
Expected credit
losses(RMB'00
0) 42139
As at 30 June 2025
Within 3
months
Expected credit
loss rate 1%
Gross carrying
amount
- (RMB'000) 4,847,342
Expected credit
losses
(RMB'000) 48,473

The Company

41012
months

5%

164,497

8,224

4t012
months

5%

376,452

18,823

T1to2years 2to 3 years
20% 50%

5,852 93

1,171 48

1to 2 years 2to 3 years
20% 50%
13,442 3,976
2,689 1,988

Only the amounts due from the intra-group companies are listed below:

As at 31 December 2022

Within 3
maonths
Expected credit
loss rate 1%
Gross carrying
amount
{(RMB’000) 1,609,427
Expected credit
losses
(RMB000) 16,094

41012
manths

5%

60,5692

3,030

1i0 2 years 2to 3years

20% 50%

533 -

107 -

107

over 3
years

100%

over 3
years

100%

over 3
years

100%

1,992

1,892

Total

1.18%

4,384 307

51,580

Total

1.37%

5,241,214

71,875

Total

1.27%

1,672,544

21,223



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
24, TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES {continued)
The Company (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Within 3 4to012 over 3
months months 1to2vyears 2to3years years Total
Expected credit
loss rate 1% 5% 20% 50% 100% 1.23%
Gross carrying
amount
(RMB’000) 959,779 225 - 533 1,992 962,529
Expected credit
losses
(RMB'000) 9,598 11 - 267 1,992 11,868

As at 31 December 2024

Within 3 41012 over 3
months months 1to2years 2to3years years Total
Expected credit
loss rate 1% 5% 20% 50% 100% 1.09%
Gross carrying
amount
{RMB'000}) 1,002,033 23,182 - - - 1,025,215
Expected credit
losses
{RMB'000) 10,020 1,159 - - - 11,179
As at 30 June 2025
Within 3 41012 over 3
months months 1io2vyears 2to 3 years years Total
Expected credit
loss rate 1% 5% 20% 50% 100% 1.39%
Gross carrying
amount
{RMB’000) 1,016,652 109,963 - - - 1,126,615
Expected credit
losses
(RMB'000) 10,167 5,498 - - - 15,665

There was no significant change in the expected credit loss rates for the time band during the reporting
period was mainly because no significant changes in the historical default rates of trade receivables,
economic conditions and performance, solvency and behaviour of the debtors were noted, based on
which the expected credit loss rates are determined.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

24, TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group

Bills receivables pledged
at the end of each
period

The Company

Bills receivables pledged
at the end of each
peried

The Group

Bills receivables endorsed
or discounted at the end
of each period but not
yet matured

The Company

Bills receivables endorsed
or discounted at the end
of each peried but not
yet matured

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
95714 143,880 123,161 81,880
As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'C00 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
6,445 24,845 10,000 25,758

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
188,684 201,437 263,907 459,651
As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
122,760 64,431 69,362 36,585
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

The Group
As at 30
As at 31 December June
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Trade Portion
Prepayments 823,642 1,921,202 1,800,338 2,030,219
Deposits and cther
receivables 107,935 209,972 227,464 198,501
Listing expenses - - - 21,105
Tax recoverable 1,712,704 2,717,992 2,924,047 3,004,489
Non-frade Portion
Deposits and cther
receivables 42(d) - 518,185 523,499 1,026,595
2,644,281 5,367,351 5,475,348 6,280,909
Impairment allowance (4,690) (31,518) {(38,788) (54,676)
Total 2,639,591 5,335,833 5,436,560 6,226,233
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

25,

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Trade Portion
Prepayments 113,225 946,595 418,737 981,983
Deposits and other
receivables 170,948 1,487,958 1,911,288 3,078,814
Listing expenses - - - 21,105
Tax recoverable 38,413 431 70,942 68,408
322,586 2,434,984 2,398,957 4,150,310
Impairment allowance (639) {505) (504) (633)
Total 321,947 2,434,479 2,398,463 4,149,677

The balances are not secured by collateral.

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables were categorized in stage 1 at
the end of each of the Relevant Periods. In calculating the expected credit loss rate, the Group considers
the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

The Group
As at 31 December Ag at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Cash and bank balances 12,979,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 9,645,273
Pledged deposits 2,269,615 1,041,977 1,105,032 900,791
Subtotal 15,248,864 11,439,443 11,188,988 10,546,064
Less: Pledged time
deposits:
Pledged for proceedings - 16,000 - “
Pledged for bilis
receivable ‘ 667,978 208,704 274,300 310,657
Pledged for letier of credit 136,116 99,200 40,933 38,461
Pledged for futures 1,209,498 837,688 423,867 424,699
Pledged for standby letter
of credit 138,561 7,711 707 707
Pledged for restricted
account - - 220,000 -
Pledged for others 116,462 72,674 145,225 126,267
Subtotal 2,269,615 1,041,977 1,105,032 900,791
Cash and cash
equivalents 12,879,249 10,397,466 10,083,956 9,645,273
Denominated in:
RMB 10,353,338 8,718,083 7,866,960 7,907,493
usD 2,675,456 1,492,313 1,389,679 1,441,925
KRW 178 73,713 397,548 297
IDR 16,412 74,393 397,349 195,479
EUR 31,133 27,144 17,640 84,872
HKD 2,731 4348 4,188 13,022
Other currencies 1 8,572 10,592 2,185
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

26,

27,

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED DEPOQOSITS (continued)

The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Cash and bank
balances 1,817,806 764,020 814,734 1,540,577
Pledged deposits 560,784 329,140 235,338 125,700
Subtotal 2,378,590 1,093,160 1,050,072 1,666,277
Less: Pledged time
deposits:
Pledged for bills
receivable 534,548 98,958 81,575 52,300
Pledged for letter of
credit 26,236 1,500 1,000 -
Pledged for futures - 154,103 69,770 7,876
Pledged for others - 74,579 102,993 65,524
Subtotal 560,784 329,140 235,338 125,700
Cash and cash
equivalents 1,817,806 764,020 814,734 1,540,577
Denominated in;
RMB 1,642,141 730,049 799,336 1,492,942
usD 175,480 33,783 15,206 47,569
HKD 185 188 192 66

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China's Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorized to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for periods between cne and six months depending on the immediate cash requirements of
the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aging analysis of the trade and bills payabies as at the end of each of the Relevant Periods, based
on the invoice date, is as follows:

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Within 1 year 8,513,547 7,952,415 9,359,024 12,102,552
110 2 years 186,688 525,766 620,861 709,471
2to 3 years 5,455 102,405 164,368 157,894
Over 3 years 17,246 12,952 105,163 130,756
Total 8,722,936 8,593,538 10,249,416 13,100,673
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
27. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued)

The Company

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 1 year 4,899,857 2,349,917 2,535,288 2,883,519
110 2 years 90,788 15,270 12,446 188,094
2 to 3 years 1,380 28,176 11,675 13,063
Over 3 years 10,208 8,773 22,292 22,108
Total 5,002,233 2,402,136 2,561,601 3,106,782

Trade and bill payables are non-interest-bearing.

As at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, the carrying amounts of trade payahles
approximated to their fair values.

28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Contract liabilities (a) 86,424 169,248 586,567 280,635
Payroll and welfare
payable 203,713 293,598 343,956 254,908
Amount due to non-
contrelling
shareholders (b) - 367,708 428,829 216,635
Other payables (c) 438,680 273,832 292,020 394,581
Other tax payables 38,300 58,720 56,711 69,506
Other current liabilities  (d) 199,919 212,865 284,741 475,659
Total 967,036 1,375,871 1,992,824 1,691,925
{a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
As at 1 January As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Short-term
advances
received from
customers 18,194 86,424 169,248 586,567 280,635

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver products. The increase in contract
liabilities in 2022, 2023 and 2024 was mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to deliver products at the end of the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)
28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continuad)
The Group (continued)
(b) Details of amount due to non-controlling shareholders are as follows:

As of 31 December 2023

PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia, a subsidiary of the Group, borrowed RMB149,644,000 (including interest)
from Debonair Nickel Private, a non-controlling shareholder, with a term of one year and an annual interest
rate of CME TERM SOER (March)+250BPS.

PT Jade Bay Metal Industry, a subsidiary of the Group, borrowed RMB183,620,000 (including interest)
from Debonair Nickel Private, a non-controlling shareholder, with a term of one year and an annual interest
rate of CME TERM SOFR (March)+250BPS.

Innovation West Mantewe PTE. LTD, a subsidiary of the Group, borrowed RMB34,444,000 (including
interest) from Walsin Singapore PTE. LTD., a non-controlling shareholder, with a term of one year and an
annual interest rate of CME TERM SOFR (March)+260BFS.

As of 31 December 2024

Innovation West Mantewe PTE. LTD, a subsidiary of the Group, borrowed RMB100,905,000 (including
interest) from Walsin Singapore PTE. LTD., a non-conirolling sharehclder, with a term of one year and an
annual interest rate of 3-MONTH SOFR.

PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia, a subsidiary of the Group borrowed RMB245,123,000 (including interest)
from Debonair Nickel Private Limited, a non-controlling shareholder, with a term from July 25, 2022, to
July 24, 2025, and an annual interest rate of 1-year Libor+220BPS. The portion of the borrowing due
within one year from December 31, 2024, has been reclassified to "other payables and accruals”.

PT Zhongtsing New Eneray,a subsidiary of the Group borrowed RMB 82,801,000 (including interest) from
Riggueza International Pte. Lid., a non-controlling shareholder, with a term from May 30, 2022, to May
29, 2025, and an annual inferest rate of 1-year Libor + 350 basis peoinis (BPS). The portion of the
borrowing due within cne year from December 31, 2024, has been reclassified to "other payables and
accruals”.

As of 30 June 2025

innovation West Mantewe PTE. LTD, a subsidiary of the Group, borrowed RMB 102,684,000 (including
interest) and RMB 29,286,000 (including interest) from Walsin Singapore PTE. LTD., a non-controlling
shareholder, with a term of one year and an annual interest rate of 3-MONTH SOFR and an annual
interest rate of 3-MONTH SOFR+125BPS respectively,

As of 30 June 2025, PT Zhongtsing New Energy, a subsidiary of the Group, had outstanding borrowings
of RMB 84,665,000 (including accrued interest) from Rigqueza International Pte. Lid., a non-controlling
shareholder. The loan was extended from 29 May 2025 to May 2026 with an interest rate of 1-year
LIBOR + 350 BPS.

Amount due to non-controlling shareholders which were mainly used for capital expenditures and
operational purposes is not expected to be fully settied prematurely before listing accordingly to the
terms of the relevant agreements, while the Group expects to gradually reduce such amounts in the
future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

28.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)
The Group {continued)
(c) Details of other payables are as follows:

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Restricted share
repurchase cobligations 255,486 158,840 84,084 -
Collection of share
subscription of
employee stock
ownership plan 100,000 - - -
Others 83,194 114,992 207,936 394,581
Total 438,680 273,832 282,020 394,581
(d) Details of other current liabilities are as follows:
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Endcrsed and unmatured
bank bills not
derecognised 188,684 201,437 263,907 459,651
Qutput tax to be
transferred 11,235 11,428 20,834 16,008
Total 199,919 212,865 284,741 475,659
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Contract liabilities (a) 609,896 368,792 108,438 176,114
Payroll and welfare
payahle 85,646 128,070 163,080 106,784
Other payables b 1,869,626 4,088,501 4,315,345 5,905,671
Other tax payables 5,764 3,238 8,122 28,832
Other current liabilifies  (c) 202,047 112,503 83,459 59,480
Total 2.772:979 4,700,104 4,678,444 6,276,881
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

28.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)
The Company (continued)

(a) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

As at 1 January As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Short-term
advances
received from
customers 138,711 609,896 369,792 108,438 176,114

(b) Details of other payables are as follows:

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Restricted share
repurchase obligations 255,486 158,840 84,084 -
Collection of share
subscription of employee
stock ownership plan 100,000 - - -
Amount due to the intra-
group companies 1,492,107 3,909,339 4,199,365 5,862,194
Others 22,033 18,322 31,896 43,477
Total 1,869,626 4,088,501 4,315,345 5,905,671

(c) Details of other current liabilities are as follows:

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Endorsed or discounted
hills receivable that
have not been
derecognised and not
yet due. 122,760 64,430 69,362 36,585
Output tax fo be
transferred 79,287 48,073 14,097 22,895
Total 202,047 112,503 83,459 59,480
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
29. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2024

Assets

Liabilities

2025
Assets Liabilities

RMB'000 RMB'C00 RMB'000 RMB'000

Derivatives

financial

assets

designated as

hedging

relationships:
Commodity

futures - 458,526 117,168 -

Derivative

financial

assets without

designated

hedging

relationships;
Cross currency

swaps 4,247 - 5,284 -
Others* - - - 1,655

RMB’000

135,342

13,212

RMB'000

100,487

RMB'00C RMB'000

58,269 -

19,154 -
55,852 15,539

Total 4247 450,626 122,462 1,655

148,554

100,497

133,275 15,539

Current portion 4,247 458,526 122462 1,655

148,554

100,497

133,275 15,539

* Primarily arising from deferred pricing arrangements from purchase.

The Company

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2024

Assets

Liabilities

2025
Assets Liabillties

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Derivatives
financial
assefs
designated as
hedging
relationships:
Commodity
futures - - 349 -
Derivative
financial
assets without
designated
hedging
relationships:
Cross currency
swaps - 3,770 - -

RMB'000

7,163

16,762

RMB'000

RMB'000  RMB'000

15,430 -

11,065 233

Total - 3,770 349 -

23,925

26,495 233

Current portion - 3,770 349 -

23,925

26,495 233
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

29.  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(1) Carry out hedging business for risk management

Risk
management
strategies and
objectives

Avoid the risk
of metal price
fluctuations
with commodity
futures
business

Future

Avoid risks in
the foreign
exchange
market with
foreign
exchange
financiaf
derivative
trading
business.

Foreign
Exchange

Hedged risk

The Company
adopts a
strategy of
hedging
commodity
price risk
exposure and
determines the
position of
futures
contracts
based on a
certain
proportion of
the exposure.
Carry out
foreign
exchange
financial
derivative
trading
business to
effectively
avoid risks in
the foreign
exchange
market.

Economic
relationship
between the
hedged items
and hedging
instruments

The fair value of
the Company's

hedging

instruments and
the hedged items
are both affected

by changes in

metal prices, and

the impact of

price changes is

opposite.

Based on the
predicted

settlement/sale

time and

amount, lock in

the settlement

exchange rate in
advance through
hedging tools to

avoid future
exchange rate
fluctuations.

Effectiveness in achieving
expected risk management
objectives

Adhere strictly to the basic
principles of hedging,
establish internal control
systems related to hedging,
continuously evaluate the
effectiveness of hedging,
ensure that the hedging
relationship is effective
during the designated
accounting period, and
achieve the expected risk
management objectives,

Adhere strictly to the basic
principles of hedging,
establish internal control
systems related to hedging,
continucusly evaluate the
effectiveness of hedging,
ensure that the hedging
relationship is effective
during the designated
accounting period, and
achieve the expected risk
management objectives.

{2} Carry out eligible hedging business and apply hedge accounting

The impact of
hedging
activities on
risk exposure

Effectively
hedge the risk
exposure of
spot business.

Reduced the
exposure to
exchange rate
risk.

The prices of commodities such as nickel, cobalt, copper, lithium carbonate, soda ash, and caustic soda,
which are critical to the Group's production and operations, are significantly exposed to market volatility.
To reasonably mitigate price fluctuation risks associated with these commodities and effectively guard
against market risks arising from commeodity price movements, thereby reducing the impact of material
price volatility on the Group’s normal operations, the Group engages in commodity hedging activities. By
leveraging the price risk-hedging functions of futures markets and utilizing hedging instruments, the Group
seeks to neuiralize price volatility risks in spot transactions for these commodities. The nickel, cobalt,
copper, lithium carbonate, soda ash, and caustic soda products processed by the Group align with the
standardized specifications of corresponding futures and forward contracts. Both the hedging instruments
(futures and forward contracts) and the hedged items (raw materials required for the Group’s production)
share the same underlying variable—benchmark prices of standardized commodities—with credit risk not
constituting a dominant factor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

29.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(2) Carry out eligible hedging business and apply hedge accounting (continued)

The Group has determined through qualitative analysis that the ratio of hedging instruments to hedged
items is 1:1. The amount of hedge ineffectiveness recognized during the Relevant Periods is not
significant. In the financial statements, gains or losses on the hedged items’ fair value attributable to the
hedged risks are recognized in profit or loss. Concurrently, changes in the fair value of hedging
instruments are also recorded in profit or loss.

The Group adopts fair value hedging for this type of hedging, and the specific hedging arrangements are
as follows:

Hedged item Hedging instrument Hedging method
Risk components in inventory Nickel, Cobalt, Copper, lithium Selling commodity futures
{Nickel, Cobalt, Copper, Metal and Alkali Futures contracts to lock in inventory price
lithium Carbonate, SodaAsh,  Contracts fluctuations
and Caustic Soda)
Risk components in inventory Delayed pricing procurement  Delay pricing clause locks in price
(Nickel Metal) contract fluctuations of Inventory

Had the Group did not apply hedge accounting, the profit of the Group would decrease by RMB73,154,000
and RMB178,471,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 30 June 2025 and increase by
RMB489,162,000 and RMB34,657,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued}

30.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The Group

Analyzed into:

Bank loans and overdrafts

repayable:

Within one year or on

demand

In the second year
In the third to fifth years,

inclusive

Beyond five years

Total

The Company

Analyzed into:

Bank loans and overdrafts

repayable:

Within one year or on

demand

In the second year
In the third to fifth years,

inclusive

Beyond five years

Total

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7,328,377 6,360,841 10,539,073 10,551,047
1,927,168 4,359,568 5,623,830 8,121,728
9,229,643 8,832,869 9,813,715 7,206,360
1,449,083 639,854 350,106 262,078
19,934,271 20,193,132 26,326,724 26,141,213
As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
1,110,725 1,566,486 2,597,356 2,502,108
366,661 2,169,043 1,854,622 2,288,974
2,392,762 2,120,783 2,560,468 2,571,626
236,688 - - -
4,106,736 5,856,292 7,012,446 7,362,706

The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

The Group

RMB
usD

Total

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RME'000
15,775,451 17,733,494 19,578,475 21,726134
4,158,820 2,459,638 6,748,249 4,416,079
19,934,271 20,193,132 26,326,724 26,141,213
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 - RMB'000 RMB'000
RMB 3,711,835 5,856,292 7,012,446 7,362,706
usD 394,801 - - -
Total 4,106,738 5,856,282 7,012,448 7,362,708

Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by:
(a) Guarantees provided by related parties for certain bank loans of the Group.

(b) As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, pledged inventories of the Group
totalling nil, RMB641,767,000 and nil, and nil.

(c) As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the net carrying amounts of the
Group's mertgaged buildings were RMBS574,106,000, RMB1,514,695,000 and RMB1,469,274,000,
and RMB1,420,472,000, respectively. The Group's mortgaged construction in progress is nil,
RMB1,170,251,000 and RMB458,377,000, and RMB126,799,000 at 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024, and 30 June 2025.

(d) As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the net carrying amounts of the
Group's mortgaged leasehold land were RMB313,634,000, RMB321,671,000 and RMEB318,260,000,
and RMB314,739,000, respectively.

Certain of the Company's bank lpans are secured by:

(@) As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the net carrying amounts of the
Company's mortgaged buildings were RMB31,764,000, RMB114,784,000 and RMB111,567,000,
and RMB109,579,000, respectively.

(b) As at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the net carrying amounts of the
Company's mortgaged leasehold land were RMB7,847,000, RMB35,292,000 and RMB34,450,000,
and RMB34,029,000, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

31,

BONDS PAYABLE

On 3 March and 5 September 2022, the Company igsued USD100 million 4.55% and USD140 million

5.70% green use of proceeds bonds, respectively.

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Nominal value of bonds
issued during the
year/period 1,671,504 - - -
At beginning of
year/period: - 1,687,387 1,720,373 1,749,841
Addition 1,582,478 - - 199,990
Interest expense 44 893 92,342 93,865 47,110
Repayment (15,697) (88,008) (90,071) (245,239)
Exchange realignment 75713 28,650 25674 (7,260)
Liability component at 31
December/30 June 1,687,387 1,720,373 1,749,841 1,744,442
Analyzed into:
Current portion - - 1,024,764 1,021,076
Non-current portion 1,687,387 1,720,373 725,077 723,366
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

32. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

33.

On 18 July 2024, a subsidiary of the Group issued a 3.03% KRW 70,000,000,000 cenvertible bond with
a nominal value of KRW 70,000,000,000. There was no movement in the number of these convertible
bonds during the year. The bonds are convertible at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares
on 18 July 2025 on the basis of one ordinary share for every KRW1,515 bonds held. Any convertible
bonds not converted will be redeemed on 18 June 2027. The bonds bears an interest of 3.03% on the
principal amount and will be settled upon its maturity date.

The fair value of the liability component was estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market
interest rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual amount is assigned as the
equity component and is included in shareholders' equity.

The convertible bonds issued during the year have been split into the liability and equity components as
follows:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
Nominal value of bonds
issued during the
year/period - - 166,270 -
Equity component - - (73,870) -
At beginning of
year/period: 99,010
Liability component at the
issuance date - - 92,400 -
Interest expense - - 9,329 10,859
Exchange Realignment - - (2,719) 15,794
Liability component at 31
December/30 June - - 99,010 125,663
DEFERRED INCOME
The Group
As at 31 December As at 3¢ June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Government grants and
subsidies 425,091 367,190 391,653 381,088
The Company
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMEB’000 RMB'000
Government grants and
subsidies 71,329 69,649 57,898 55,808
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

34.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The Group
As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Advance receipts of
government subsidies 83,026 118,106 83,026 83,026
Non-controlling
shareholders' borrowings
with a term exceeding
one year* 805,910 927,607 - 250,642
Payable for equity
acquisition** - 478,082 1,194,281 472 468
Accounts payable for
engineering
equipment™* - - 845,220 920,640
Lease liability in a sale anc
leaseback 19,958 - - -
Total 908,894 1,523,795 2,122,527 1,726,776

* As at 31 December 2022, the non-controlling shareholders’ borrowings are as follows:

"

(2)

(3)

The subsidiary PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia borrowed funds of RMB 717,415,000 from the non-
controlling shareholder Debonair Nickel Private Limited. The term of the loan is from July 25, 2022
to July 24, 2025, with an annual interest rate of cne-year Libor + 220 bp.

The subsidiary PT Zhongtsing New Energy borrowed funds of RMB 71,548,000 from the non-
controlling shareholder Rigqueza International Pte, Ltd. The loan term is from 30 May 2022 to
29 May 2025, with an annual interest rate of one-year Libor + 350 bp.

The subsidiary PT Jade Bay Metal Industry borrowed funds of RMB 16,948,000 from the non-
controlling shareholder Debonair Nickel Private Limited. The loan term is from July 25, 2022 to
July 24, 2025, with an annual interest rate of one-year Libor + 220 bp.

As at December 31, 2023, the details of non-controlling shareholders’ borrowings are as follows:

(1

(2)

3)

The subsidiary PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia borrowed funds of RMB766,668,000 (including
interest) from the non-controlling shareholder Debonair Nickel Private Limited. The loan term is from
July 25, 2022 to July 24, 2025, with an annual interest rate of one-year Libor + 220 bp.

The subsidiary PT Zhongtsing New Energy borrowed funds of RMB77,166,000 (including interest)
from the non-controlling shareholder Rigqueza International Pte. Ltd. The loan term is from 30 May
2022 to 29 May 2025, with an annual interest rate of one-year Libor + 350 bp.

The subsidiary PT Jade Bay Metal Industry borrowed funds of RMB 83,773,000 (including interest)
from the non-controlling shareholder Debonair Nickel Private Limited. Of this amount, RMB
16,788,000 is borrowed from July 25, 2022 to July 24, 2025, with an annual interest rate of one-
year Libor + 220bp; and RMB 63,617,000 is borrowed from July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2028, with an
annual interest rate of CME TERM SOFR (3 months) + 250 bp.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

34,

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)

The Group (continued)

As at 30 June 2025, the non-controlling shareholders' borrowings are as follows:

(1) The subsidiary PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia borrowed funds of RMB 250,642,000 from the non-

controlling shareholder Debonair Nickel Private Limited. The loan, originally effective from July 23,
2022, to July 24, 2025, was extended to a total term of five years (until July 24, 2027) pursuant to
an addendum agreement signed on March 28, 2025. The annual interest rate remains at one-year
Libor + 220 bp. PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia may prepay the loan and is required to prioritize
repayment of principal and corresponding interest before any profit distribution.

** |n 2023, the Company acquired 60% of the equity interest in Innovation West Mantewe Pte. Ltd. The
remaining acquisition payment of USD 67,500,000 will be offset by the future dividends of innovation
West Mantewe Pte. Ltd.

In 2024, the equity investment payable of USD886,000,000 represents the remaining consideration for
Hong Kong Zhengxing New Energy Co., Ltd.'s acquisition of a 46.7% equity stake in Hanking
(Indonesia) Mining Limited (HML) under the share purchase agreement. Per agreement terms, the
total transaction consideration amounts to USD182,000,000, with an initial payment of
USD116,000,000 already settled. The outstanding balance payment terms include: phased
disbursements proportionate to capital contributions upon commencement of the smelter project
construction, or full settlement within 48 months post-equity transfer upon completion of project
investments.

** The amount was discounted due to financing attributes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

35.

SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES
The Group and the Company

A summary of movements in the Group and the Company's share capital and treasury shares are as
follows:

Number of shares in

issue Share capital Treasury shares Total
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
As at 1 January 2022 605,673,053 605,673 - 605,673
Private placement (a) 60,966,688 60,967 - 60,967
Repurchase obligation
arising from issuance of
restricted share scheme (b) - - (255,486) (255,486)
Issue of shares under
share schemes (€ 3,983,835 3,994 - 3,994
As at 31 December 2022 670,633,576 670,634 (255,486) 415,148
As at January 1, 2023 670,633,576 670,634 (255,486) 415,148
Repurchase of shares for
share schemes {b) - - {181,014) (181,014)
Vested of restricted share (c) - - 44 864 44,864
Cancelfation of shares {b) (809,473) (810) 51,782 50,972
As at December 31, 2023 569,824,103 669,824 {339,854} 329,970
As at January 1, 2024 669,824,103 669,824 (339,854) 329,970
Bonus issues (d) 266,375,601 266,376 - 266,376
Repurchase of shares for
share schemes (b} - - (238,996} (238,996)
Issue of shares under
share schemes (c) 2,526,155 2526 - 2,526
Cancellation of shares (2] {1,636,045) {1.836) 74,756 73,120
As at December 31, 2024 937,089,814 937,090 (504,094) 432,956
As at January 1, 2025 937,089,814 937,090 (504,004) 432,996
Repurchase of shares for
share schemes ()] - - (532,228) (532,228)
Issue of shares under
share schemes (c) 2,778,855 2,779 - 2,779
Cancellation of shares (b} (1,840.211) (1,840) 84,084 82,244
As at June 30, 2025 938,028,458 938,029 (052,238) (14,209}
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

35.

SHARE CAPITAL AND TREASURY SHARES (continued)

The Group and the Company {continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

In November 2022, as approved by the China Securities Regulatery Commission {"CSRC") under
the document "CSRC Permit [2022] No. 2140", the Company completed the issuance of total
60,966,688 new shares of domestic listed Renminbi ordinary shares (A Shares) fo specific
subscribers, at an subscription price of RMB70.65 per share. The Company raised funding of
RMB4,307,297,000. After deducting the issuance expenses {excluding tax) of RMB34,429,000, the
Company received a total of RMB 4,272,871,000, of which, RMB60,967,000 was recognized as the
share capital and RMB4,211,904,000 was credited to the capital reserve.

In 2022, as the implementation of the 2022 Restricted Share Incentive Scheme, the Company
recognized the liability of RMB255,486,000 for the repurchase obligation of which the amount was
determined by the number of restricted A Shares issued and the corresponding repurchase price.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, a total of 3,393,300,
10,209,299 and 18,251,939 A Shares have been repurchased respectively for future employee stock
ownership plan or share-based incentive, and treasury stocks amounting to approximately RMB
181,013,000, RMB238,996,000 and RMB532,228,000 therefore were recognized respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Company, under the
approval and authorization of the generai meeting, cancelled a total of 809,473, 1,636,045 and
1,840,211 shares, respectively. Hence treasury stocks amounting to approximately RMB51,782,000
and share capital of approximately RMB810,000 were derecognized with a corresponding credit to
capital reserve of approximately RMBS50,972,000 in the year ended 31 December 2023. Treasury
stocks amounting to approximately RMB74,756,000 and share capital of approximately
RMB1,636,000 were derecognized with a corresponding credit to capital reserve of approximately
RMB73,120,000 during the year ended December 31, 2024. Treasury stocks amounting to
approximately RMB84,084,000 and share capital of approximately RMB1,840,000 were
derecognized with a comresponding credit to capital reserve of approximately RMB 82,244,000 during
the period ended June 30, 2025.

On 26 April 2022, the Company granted 3,993,835 restricted shares, with a par value of RMB 1 per
share and a grant price of RMB 63.97 per share under its 2022 Restricted Share Incentive Scheme.

On 28 June 2023, a total of 701,322 restricted shares under its 2022 Restricted Share Incentive
Scheme were vested, as 778 participants met the performance requirements. Therefore, treasury
stock of RMB44,864,000 and restricted shares repurchase obligations included in other payable and
accruals of RMB44,854,000 were derecognized.

On 28 August 2024, the Company's issued 2,526,155 shares upon the exercise of share options,
with a par value of RMB1 per share at an exercise price of RMB21.18, under the 2023 Share
Incentive Scheme.

On 13 June 2025, the Company’s issued 2,778,855 shares upon the exercise of share options, with
a par value of RMB1 per share at an exercise price of RMB20.52, under the 2023 Share Incentive
Scheme.

On 29 May 2024, the Company implemented its 2023 annual dividend distribution (the "2023 Annual
Dividend Distribution™, capitalizing capital reserve to issue 4 new Shares for every 10 Shares held
by Sharehclders (excluding repurchased 3,885,100 Shares). The 2023 annual dividend distribution
resulted in a total increase of 266,375,601 shares.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

36.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
Equity-Settled shared-based payment arrangement
(a) Stock Ownership Schemes

Pursuant to the shareholders’ meeting of the Company approved on 5 March 2019, the Company
increased its share capital from RMB400,000,000 to RMB412,380,000 to Tongren Yuanjiuzhihe
Company Management Consuilting Partnership (L.P.) (fICIRBEE S AT EERHABAT (FREB
) "Yand Tongren Hengsheng Li-Neng Company Management Consulting Partnership (L.P.) ("SR{- {525
FREA T E AR AT (FR-EE) "), both of which were designated as share incentive platforms
to hold the shares specially awarded to the eligible participants as the ultimate beneficial owners. The
Group has no control over the share incentive platforms. After the grant of the awards, the participants
became partners of share incentive platforms and are indirectly interested in the incentive shares under
the terms and conditicns contained in the relevant agreements. The grant date was 31 July 2019, and
the granted price was RMB1.45 per share of the Company. The vesting periods for employee ownership
granted are 5 years from the grant date.

The Group determines the fair value of the shares under 2019 Share Cwnership Scheme by reference
to the investment price of Series A investment of the Company.

{b) Restricted Share Incentive Schemes

Pursuant to the restricted shares incentive scheme for 2022 approved at the first extraordinary annual
shareholders’ meeting on 6 April 2022 (“the 2022 Restricted Share Incentive Scheme”), the Company
granted 3,993,835 restricted shares to 903 employees, officers and directors. The grant date was 13
April 2022, and the granted price was RMB63.97 per share. The restricted shares will be vested by three
instalments subject to the Company’s annual performance appraisal and individual performance
appraisal during 2022 to 2024,

The number of restricted shares granted to the Group’s incentive participants is summarized as follows:

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
{unaudited)

Outstanding as at

the beginning of

the year/period - 3,993,835 2,483,040 2,483,040 1,840,211
Granted 3,993,835 - - - -
Adjustment in

number of

shares** - - 993,216 - -
Vested - (701,322) - -
Forfeited - (809,473) {1,636,045) (1,636,045) (1,840,211)
Outstanding as at

the end of the

year/period 3,993,835 2,483,040 1,840,211 846,995 -

**  The number of shares has been adjusted for the implementation of the Company's 2023 annual
dividend distribution to capitalize capital reserve to issue 4 new shares for every 10 shares held by
shareholders on 28 May 2024,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
V) Restricted Share Incentive Schemes

The Group determines the fair value of restricted shares on the basis of the single-day closing price of
the circulating shares on the date when the equity instruments are granted, less the exercise price.

The fair value of granted shares was RMB131,277,000 for the 2022 Restricted Share [ncentive Scheme.
(i} Stock Option Incentive Plans

The Company approved and established the restricted shares incentive scheme for 2023 at the sixth
extraordinary annual shareholders' meeting (“the 2023 Share Incentive Scheme") on 30 June 2023,
Under the plan, participants are granted options which only vest if certain performance standards are
met and the employees, officers and directors shall remain in service.

Under the first grant of the plan, the Company granted 7,863,240 restricted shares to 1,478 employees,
officers and directors on 3 July 2023, with an exercise price of RMB30.78 per share. The vesting periods
for employee shares granted are 1 year, 2 years and 3 years from 12 months after the grant date.
According to the Company’s performance appraisal and individual performance appraisal, 30%, 30%
and 40% of employee shares plan will be vested respectively.

Under the reserved grant of the plan, the Company granted 2,769,382 restricted shares to 138
employees, officers and directors on 20 June 2024, with an exercise price of RMB21.16 per share, as
adjusted for bonus share issued in the Company's share capital and the cash dividend of RMB11.60 per
10 shares in 2024, The vesting periods for employee shares granted are 1 year and 2 years from 12
months after the grant date. According to the Company's performance appraisal and individual
performance appraisal, 50% and 50% of employee shares plan will be vested respectively.

A summary of activities of the share options is presented as follows:

2022 2023 2024
Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of axercise Number of
price options price options price options
RMB per RMB per RMB per
share 000 share ‘000 share ‘000
At 1 January - - - - 30.78 7,863,240
Granted during
the year - - 30.78 7,863,240 21.16* 2,769,382
Adjustment in
number of
shares** - - - - 21.16 3,145,296
Exercised during
the year - - - - 21.18 (2,526,155)
Forfeited during
the year - - - - 21.16 (2,640,209}
At 31 December - 30.78 7,863,240 21.16 8,611,554
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
(c}  Stock Option Incentive Plans (continued)
IA summary of activities of the share options is presented as follows: (continued)

Six months ended 30 June

2024 2025
Weighted average  Number of Weighted average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
RMB per share ‘000 RMB per share '000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
At 1 January 30.78 7,863,240 2116 8,611,554
Granted during the
period 2116 2,769,382 20.52* -
Adjustment in
number of shares** 2116 3,145,296 20.52 -
Exercised during the
pericd 21.18 - 20.52 (2,778,855)
Forfeited during the
pericd 21.16 _ (1,636,045) 20.52 (1,564,205)
At 30 June 2116 12,141,873 20.52 4,268,494

The exercise price of the share options of RMB21.16 has been adjusted for i) the implementation of
the Company's 2023 annual dividend distribution to capitalize capital reserve to issue 4 new shares
for every 10 shares held by shareholders in May 2024, and ii) the distribution of cash dividend of
RMB11.60 per 10 shares in May 2024, and iii} the distribution of cash dividend of RMB2.8 per 10
shares in October 2024, and iv) the distribution of cash dividend of RMB3.6 per 10 shares in May
2025,

**  The number of shares has been adjusted for the implementation of the Company's 2023 annual
dividend distribution to capitalize capital reserve to issue 4 new shares for every 10 shares held by
shareholders on 29 May 2024.

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised during the Relevant

Periods were nil, nil, RMB2S.00 per share, nil and nil for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023,
2024, and six months ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2025, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (confinued)
36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (confinued)
(c)  Stock Option Incentive Plans (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share-based payments outstanding as at the end of
each of the Relevant Periods are as follows:

2022
Number of options Exercise price” Exercise period
RMB per share :
2023
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RMB per share
7,863,240 30.78 July2024-July2026
7,863,240
2024
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RMB per share
8,611,554 21.16 July2025-July2026
8,611,554

Six months ended 30 June 2025
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
RMB per share

3,265,996 20.52 July2026

3,265,996

* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights or bonus share
issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the Relevant Periods was nil, RMB232,280,000 and
RMB31,266,000, and nil, respectively.
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36.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

(c)  Stock Option Incentive Plans (continued)

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using an adjusted form of the Black Scholes
Model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model used:

2023 Share Incentive Scheme

Exercise price per share RMB30.78, RMB21.16, RMB20.52
Expiry date Respective annual due dates
Share price at grant date per share RMB60.32, RMB32.45
Expected volatility of the Company's shares 18.88%~24.44%
Expected dividend yield 0.78%~1.82%
Risk-free interest rate 1.50%~2.75%

The 2,526,155 share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2024 resulted in the issue
of 2,526,155 ordinary shares of the Company and new share capital of RMB2,526,155 (before issue
expenses), as further detailed in note 35 to the Financial information.

No share options were granted subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

(d)  Share-based payment expenses

Share-based payment expenses during the Relevant Periods are as follows:

Six months ended 30

Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Equity-settied share-
based payments 79,430 51,864 79,941 55,855 15,748
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37.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for the Relevant Periods are presenfed
in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

(a) Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contribution of the then sharsholders.
(b) Share-based payments reserve

The amounts of share-based payments reserve are set out in note 38,

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of companiss of which the functional currencies are not RMB. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2.3.

(d) Special reserve - safety fund

Pursuant to the revised Measures for the Extraction and Use of Enterprise Safefy Production Funds
issued in November 2022, the Group is required to set aside an amount to maintenance, production and
other similar funds. The funds can be used for maintenance of production and improvements of safety
and are not available for distribution to shareholders.

{e) Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles of association of the subsidiaries established
in the PRC, the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net profits after tax, as determined under the
PRC GAAP, to the statutory surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles of
association of the subsidiaries, the statutory surplus reserve may be used either to offset losses, or to
be converted to increase share capital, provided that the balance after such conversion is not less than
25% of the registered capital of the respective entities. The reserve cannot be used for purposes other
than those for which it is created and is not distributable as cash dividends.

() Fair value reserve of financial assets at falr value through other comprehensive income
The fair value reserve of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income represents

unrealized fair value gains or losses for equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
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38.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022

Percentage of
equity interest held
by non-controliing

interests
%
PT Zhongtsing New
Energy 30.00
Hunan CNGR New
Energy Science
&Technology Co.,Ltd 14,29

Profit/(loss) for
the year
allocated to
non-controlling
interests
RMB'000

{15,943)

Dividends Accumulated
declared to balances of
non-controlling  non-controlling
shareholders interests
RMB'000 RMB'000

- 272,603

- 813,209

The following tables illustrate the summarized financial information of the above subsidiaries. The
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

PT Zhongtsing New

Revenue

(Loss)/profit for the year

Total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

Hunan CNGR New Energy

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net cash flows used in operating
activities

Energy Science &Technology Co.,Ltd

RMB’000 RMB'000

- 11,448,438

(53,143) 342,648

(53,143) 333,569

762,205 10,467,205

2,524,276 7,172,863
(1,174,757) (8,296,982)
(1,203,048) (2,804,198)
(30.977) (2,885,671)
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38.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the above subsidiaries. The
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: {(continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Hunan CNGR New Energy
Science &Technology Co.,Ltd

Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy
Technology Co.,Ltd.

PT Nadesico Nickel Industry

Revenue

Profit/(loss) for the year

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

Current assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net cash flows generated
from/(used in) operating activities

As at 31 December 2024

Hunan CNGR New Energy
Science&Technology Co., Ltd

Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy
Technology Co., Lid.

PT Nadesico Nickel Industry

Percentage of  Profit/(loss) for Dividends Accumulated
equity interest the year declared to balances of
held by allocated to nen- non-
non-controlling  non-centrolling controlling controlling
interests interests  shareholders interests

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

21.74 336,806 66,956 2,590,779

19.68 - - 1,500,248

40.00 (39,330) - 795,956

Guangxi Zhongwei
Hunan CNGR New New Energy
Energy Science Technology PT Nadesico
&Technology Co.,Ltd Co. Ltd Nickel Industry

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

12,556,569 12,676,202 -
971,261 461,831 (98,324)
1,025,229 461,831 {141,359)
10,486,346 9,169,349 883,000
7,685,586 5,679,865 5,542,759

5,416,895 2,857,721 4,435 870

4,492 059 4,367,507 -
1,207,659 759,680 {(340,924)
Percentage of Profit for the Dividends Accumulated
equity interest  year allocated declaredto  balances of
held by to non- non- non-
non-contrelling controlling controlling controlling
interests interests  shareholders interests

% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

24,22 367,988 177,209 3,404,896

23.12 190,290 67,962 2,000,242

40.00 15,942 - 829,111
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38.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the above subsidiaries, The
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Hunan Zhongwei

Guangxi Zhongwei

New Energy New Energy
Technology Technology PT Nadesico
Company Limited Co.,td. Nickel Industry
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Revenue 11,909,288 10,166,505 2,201,841
Profit for the year 918,099 823,052 39,854
Total comprehensive income for the
year 971,398 823,052 39,874
Current assets 13,460,747 11,719,123 2,705,895
Non-current assets 7,741,216 5,624,053 8,050,934
Current liabilities 5,228,949 4,762,234 2,096,462
Non-cuirent liabilities 4,764,738 3,928,029 6,600,612
Net cash flows generated from/(used
in) operating activities 1,211,331 1,650,425 {1,405,482)
As at 30 June 2025
Percentage of Profit for the Dividends Accumulated
equity interest  year allocated declaredto  balances of
held by non- to non- non- non-
controlling controlling controlling controlling
interests interests  shareholders interests
% RMEBE'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Hunan CNGR New Energy
Science&Technology Co., Ltd 24,22 26,354 152,592 3,275,941
Guangxi Zhongwei New Energy
Technology Co., Lid. 23.12 128,678 155,342 1,975,193
PT Nadesico Nickel Industry 40.00 (56,944) - 769,696
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

38.

39.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the above subsidiaries. The
amounts disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations: (continued)

As at 30 June 2025 (continued}
Hunan CNGR New

Guangxi Zhongwei

Energy New Energy
Science&Technology Technology PT Nadesico
Co.,Ltd Co. Ltd. Nickel Industry
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue 5,099,320 6,576,724 3,695,666
Profit for the period 60,518 560,979 (142,360)
Total comprehensive income for the
period 44,581 560,979 {148,538)
Current assets 11,879,216 13,686,775 3,433,298
Non-current assets 7,417,525 5,397,112 7,884,803
Current liabilities 6,162,611 7,364,175 2,081,414
Non-current lisbilities 3,506,267 3,175,148 7,353,486
Net cash flows generated from/(used
in} operating activities 808,981 536,138 {235,416)
NOTES TO THE CONSCLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
2022
Amountdueto  Lease ligbility
non-controlling in a sale and
shareholders leaseback
[nterest- included in included in
bearing bank other non- other non-
and other Bond Lease current current
borrowings payable liabilities liabilities liabilities
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2022 6,258,909 - 21,303 - 55,688
Changes from
financing cash flows 13,094,761 1,655,660  (15,604) 805,910 (7,367)
New leases - - 20,246 - -
Interest expense 557,538 44,893 1,176 - 2,116
Exchange realignment 23,063 (13,166) - - -
Other - - - - (11,951)
At 31 December 2022 19,934,271 1,687,387 27,121 805,910 38,486
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

{a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities{continued)

2023

At 1 January 2023

Changes from

financing cash

flows
New leases

Interest expense

Exchange
realignment
Other

At 31 December 2023

2024

At 1 January
2024
Changes from

financing cash

flows
New leases

Interest expense

Exchange
realignment
Other

At 31 December

2024

Lease liability

in a sale and
leaseback
Interest- Amount due included in
bearing bank to non- other nan-
and other Lease controlling current
borrowings Bond payable liabilities shareholders liabilities
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
19,934,271 1,687,387 27,121 805,910 38,486
{500,622) {88,006) (18,5986) 415,167 (5,492)
- - 9,152 - -
807,418 92,342 1,493 59,670 2117
(47,935) 28,650 - 14,568 -
- (15,152)
20,193,132 1,720,373 19,170 1,295,315 19,959
Lease
liability in a
Amount sale and
Interest- dueto leaseback
bearing non- included in
bank and controlling  other non-
other Bond Lease shareholde current  Convertible
borrowings payable liabilities rs liabilities bond
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
20,193,132 1,720,373 19,170 1,295315 19,959 -
4,848,073 {90,071} (24,934)  (952,097) - 166,270
- - 48,385 - - -
1,024,337 93,855 2,096 72,792 686 9,329
261,182 25674 - 12,819 - (2,719)
- - - - {20,645) (73,870)
28,326,724 1,749,841 44 717 428,829 - 99,010
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

39.

Six months ended 30 June 2024 (unaudited)

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities(continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Lease
liability in a
sale and
leaseback
Interest- Amount due included in
bearing bank to non- other non-
and other Bond Lease controlling current
borrowings payable liabilities shareholders liabilities
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At 1 January 2024 20,193,132 1,720,373 19,170 1,295,315 19,959
Changes from
financing cash flows 4,678,976 {44,511) (13,265) (496,648) -
New leases - - 12,773 - -
Interest expense 402,003 48,382 {375) 37,000 529
Exchange
realignment 6,223 10,718 - 6,638 -
Other - - - - {10,322)
At 30 June 2024 25,280,334 1,732,941 18,304 842,305 10,165
Six months ended 30 June 2023
Interest- Amount due
bearing bank to non-
and other Bond Lease controlling Convertible
borrowings payable liabilities  shareholders bond
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
At 1 January 2025 26,326,724 1,749,841 44 717 428,829 99,010
Changes from
financing cash
flows (709,820) (45,249) {16,427} 29,023 -
New [eases - - 2,082 - -
Interest expense 511,934 47,110 871 11,346 10,859
Exchange
realignment 12,375 (7,260) - (1,921) 15,794
At 30 June 2025 26,141,213 1,744,442 31,243 467,277 125,663
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

39.

40.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b} Total cash outflow for [eases

Within operating

activities

Within financing

activities

Total

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Year ended 31 December

Six months ended 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(8,214) (8,747) (21,951) (6,761) (8,674)
(15,604) (18,596) (24,934) (13,265) (14,710)
(21,818) (27,343) (46,885) (20,026) (23,384)

Details of the Group's assets pledged are as follows and included in notes 13, 14, 23, 26 and 29,
respectively, to the Financial information.

Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents
Cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash
equivalents

Bill receivables
Inventories
Buildings
Construction in
progress

Leasehold land

Total

As at 31 December

As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 16,000 - -

667,978 208,704 274,300 310,857
136,116 99,200 40,933 38,461
1,209,498 637,688 423,867 424,699
139,561 7,711 707 707
116,462 72,674 145,225 126,267

- - 220,000 -

95,714 143,860 123,161 81,880

- 641,767 - -

574,106 1,514,895 1,469,274 1,420,472

- 1,170,251 458,377 126,799

313,634 321,671 318,280 314,739
3,253,069 4,834,221 3,474,104 2,844,681
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Restrictions

Pledged for
proceedings
Pledged for
hills
receivable
Pledged for
letter of
credit
Pledged for
futures
Pledged for
standby
letter of
credit
Pledged for
others
Pledged for
supervision
account
Pledged for
discounting
Pledged for
borrowing
Pledged for
borrowing
Pledged for
borrowing
Pledged for
borrowing



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

41,

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries through business combinations
Acquisition of DHPL and Jade Bay during the year ended December 31, 2022

On July 31, 2022, the Company raised funds through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Hong Kong Zhongwei
Zhongtuo New Energy Co., Ltd. {hereinafter referred to as * Hong Kong Zhongtuo *) acquires 100% equity
of Debonair Holdings Private Limited (hereinafter referred to as "DHPL"), and DHPL has no substantive
business as a shareholding platform. 1t holds 50.1% of the equity of PT Debonair Nicke! Indonesia
(hereinafter referred to as "DNI"). DNl is the project company for the construction of two RKEF ferronickel
production lines {(with an annual output of 27,500 tons of nickel metal equivalent low nickel matte) and a
380 MW supporting power plant project in Weda Bay Indonesia. The purchase consideration of
UsD200,320,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,350,897,000) for the acquisition was in the form of
cash and fully paid in 2022.

On July 31, 2022, the Company increased the capital of PT Jade Bay Metal Industry (hereinafter referred
to as “Jade Bay”) at a premium with self-raised funds through Hong Kong Zhongtuo, and held 50.10% of
the equity of Jade Bay after the capital increase. Jade Bay is the project company of two RKEF ferronickel
production lines {with an annual output of 27,500 tons of nickel metal equivalent low nickel matte) built in
Weda Bay, Indonesia. The capital increase of USD112,359,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB757,714,000) was in the form of cash and fully paid in 2022.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of DHPL and Jade Bay as at the dates of the
acquisitions were as follows:

Fair value recognized on acquisition

Debonair Holdings Private Limited PT Jade Bay Metal Industry
RMB'000 RMB’000
Property, plant and equipment 441,313 3,308
Cash and bank balances 393,848 -
Prepayments and other receivables 1,199,031 29,810
Trade payablas (101,232) {1,622)
Accruals and other payables (1,358,110} (32)
Others 86,426 (32,140)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 661.276 (678)
Non-controlling interests (329,978} 338
Goodwili an acquisition 1,019,599 284,132
Satisfied by cash 1,350,897 -
Satisfied by non-controlling interests - 283,454
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the
acquisition of a subsidiary is as follows:
Cash consideration (1,350,897) -
Cash and bank balances acquired 393,848 -
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents includec
in cash flows from investing activities {957.049) -
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in
cash flows from operating activities - -
Total net cash outflow {957,049) -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued}

41.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(8) Acquisition of subsidiaries through business combinations (continued)
i. Acquisition of DHPL and Jade Bay during the year ended December 31, 2022 (continued)

Since the acquisition, DHPL contributed nil to the Group's revenue, loss of RMB2,053,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year. Had the combination of DHPL taken place at the beginning of the year
ended December 31, 2022, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year would have been RMB
30,343,742,000 and RMB 1,539,831,000, respectively.

Since the acquisition, Jade Bay contributed nit to the Group's revenue, loss of RMB1,797,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended December 31, 2022. Had the combination of Jade Bay taken place
at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2022, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the
year would have been RMB30,343,742,000 and RMB1,538,905,000, respectively.

ii.  Acquisition of PT NNI during the year ended December 31, 2023
On July 1, 2023, the Group acquires 80% equity of PT Nadesico Nickel Industry (hereinafter referred to
as "PT NNI"). The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash and fully paid in
2023,

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PT NNI as at the date of acquisition were as
follows:

Fair value recognised on acquisition
PT Nadesico Nickel Industry

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 2,202,550
Cash and bank balances 4,458
Prepayments and other receivables 159,952
Trade payables (221,538)
Accruals and other payables (120,496)
Others 108,321
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 2,131,247
Non-controlling interests {852,604)
Goodwill on acquisition -
Satisfied by cash 1,278,643
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a

subsidiary is as follows;
Cash consideration (1,278,643)
Cash and bank balances acquired 4,458
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows from

investing activities (1,274,185)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows from

operating activities -
Total net cash outflow {1,274,185)

Since the acquisition, PT NNI contributed nil to the Group’s revenue and loss of RMB98,324,000 to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2023. Had the combination of PT NNI taken place at
the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year
would have been RMB34,273,223,000 and RMB2,100,715,000, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

41.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries through business combinations (continued)
Acquisition of FINO during the year ended December 31, 2024

Cn June 26, 2024, the Group acquires 29.90% equity of FINO Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "FINO").
The purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash and was fully paid in 2024.

The Group has determined that it has obtained the controlling power in FINO even it holds less than half
of the total voting rights of FINO. It is because the Group is the largest single shareholder of FINO, holding
29.90% of its shares and 29.90% of its voting rights. The remaining shares of FINO are widely held by a
number of other shareholders. Since the acquisition date, there have been no instances where the other
shareholders collectively exercised their voting rights or holding more votes of FINO than the Group. At
the same time, the Group can direct the board resclutions of FINO to be passed and appoint or approve
the key management personnel of FINO by hoiding more than half of the total voting rights in the board
of directors of FINO. In addition, two subsidiaries of the Group subscribed the convertible bond issued
by FINO with convertible option during the period from July 18, 2025 to June 18, 2027, which would
further increase the Group's shareholding percentage. Therefore, the Group includes FINO in the scope
of consolidation.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of FINO as at the date of acquisition were as
follows:

Fair value recognised on acquisition

FINO Inc.
RMB'000

Property, plant and equipment 56,498
Cash and bank balances 70,710
Trade receivables 1334
Prepayments and other receivables 734
Trade payables (2,842)
Accruals and other payables (2,203)
Others 26,798
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 151,029
Non-controlling interests (105,867)
Goodwill on acquisition 55,932
Satisfied by cash 101,094
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a

subsidiary is as follows:
Cash consideration (101,094)
Cash and bank balances acquired 70,710
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows from

investing activities {30,384)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in cash flows from

operating activities -
Total net cash outflow {30,384}

Since the acquisition, FINO contributed RMB133,378,000 to the Group’s revenue and loss of RMB
12,295,000 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2024. Had the combination of
FINO Inc. taken place at the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue and the profit
of the Group for the year would have been RMB40,248,207,000 and RMB1,787,193,000, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
41.  ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) Acguisition of assets through acquisition of subsidiaries
i.  Acquisition of MUS during the year ended December 31, 2024

On July 31, 2024, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Singapore CNGR Zhongxin New Energy
Pte., Ltd. acquires 82.73% equity of PT Multi Usaha Sejahati (hereinafter referred to as "MUS"}. MUS
has no substantial business, which core assets are 55.00% equity interest in PT Harum Sukses Mining
("HSM") and §5.01% equity interest in PT Bumi Halteng Mining {"BHM"). HSM holds two nickel minings
and BHM owns one nickel mining project. The Group believes that as MUS's nickel ore has not yet
been mined at of 31 December 2024 and does not have the processing process and production
capacity. Therefore, the Company regard the acquisition as the asset acquisition.

Fair value recognised on acquisition
PT Multi Usaha Sejahati

RMB’000

Property, plant and equipment 1,319
Other intangible assets 610,334
Right-of-use assets 4,063
Cash and bank balances 7,366
Prepayments and other receivables 17,835
Other non-current assets 64,765
Accruals and cther payables 29,150
Contract liabilities 24,538
Others 639
Net assets at fair value 651,355
Non-controlling interests (310,004)
Net assets on acquisition 341,349
Satisfied by cash 341,351
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

a subsidiary is as follows:
Cash consideration {341,351)
Cash and bank balances acquired 7,366
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash

flows from investing activities (333,985)
Consideration payahle 256,626
Total net cash outflow (77,359)

41.  ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b) Acquisition of assets through acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

ii. Acquisition of Wintru S.R.L. during the pericd ended June 30, 2025

On January 31, 2025, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Netherlands Tontru Lithium Energy
Technology B.V(fi B8 sFERIHE AT and Netherlands Hontru Lithium Energy Technology
B.V(TW2 £ S42aER AR AT acquires 100% equity of Wintru S.R.L.. Wintru S.R.L. has no
substantial business, which core asset is Jama Salt Lake Lithium Mine Project. The Group believes

that as the lithium ore has not yet been mined at of June 30, 2025 and does not have the processing
process and production capacity. Therefore, the Company regard the acquisition as the asset

acquisition.
Fair value recognised on acquisition
Wintru S.R.LL.
RMB'000
Property, plant and equipment 45,262
Other intangible assets 572,912
Cash and bank balances 1,385
Trade receivables 4
Prepayments and other receivables 182
Trade payables 108,714
Accruals and other payables 8
Others 2,256
Net assets at fair value 510,747
Non-controlling interests -
Net assets on acquisition 510,747
Satisfied by cash 510,747
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
a subsidiary is as follows:
Cash consideration (510,747}
Cash and bank balances acquired 1,385
Cash paid at previous year 91,653
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in cash
flows from investing activities {417,709)
Consideration payable -
Total net cash outflow (417,709)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Names and relationships

Name of the related parties

PT CNGR Ding Xing New Energy

PT HengSheng New Energy Material Indonesia

PT Transcoal Minergy

COBCO S.A.

Honglin Construction Engineering Group Co., Ltd.("&#k
Big TIZERAFRAF")

Hunan Mingiang Engineering Co., Ltd (4R RETIEHE
PRET]")

Dalong Longsheng Grand Hotel(" X% Z R AEE"

Hunan Hanhua Jingdian Clean Energy Technology Co.,
Ltd. ("R R R BB B R AR IR R B BR A F]")

Hunan Zhongxian Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.(";45
R ERERME B IRAF]"

Jiangsu Haishi Pump Industry Manufacturing Co., Ltd.("
ARG REIETRAT")

Hunan Weichu Fruit Juice & Wine Co., Ltd.(";#RIHELRE R
HELFERAA"

Hunan Juntai Fire Testing Co., Ltd.(" 4R % Z BB R
BRAA"

Hunan Yaspace Property Management Co., Ltd.("}#™
= EN B ERAT")

Guizhou Qiheng Transportation Co., Ltd. (&M /5 [5iE46
BIRFRELT")

Hunan Zhongwei New Silver Materials Technology Co.,
Ltd. (48R PR IR AR B BR AR

Hunan Zhongwei New Platinum Materfals Technology
Co., Ltd.("HiRIPHEM A NRRBIRAR")

Hunan Zhongwei Jinneng New Materials Co., Ltd.(";§/
P& REFM ARG RBIELT")

Yuechu Fruit Juice & Wine Co., Ltd.("E# 2+l 5 R
AT

PT SATYA AMERTA HAVENPORT

Guangxi New Platinum Materials Technology Co., Ltd.

("I EHREARRHRERAT")

Guiyang Zhongwei Yunda Technology Co., Ltd.("&=FR=
FEBEMEFRARA")

Hunan Yuening Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.("#
EatR T B A R H/ R AR

Hunan Zhongwei New Hydrogen Materials Technology
Co., Ltd.("Bmp B E MR ERAR")

Guizhou Zhongwei Investment Group Co., Lid. ("&4H
RIERERERFRAT"

Guizhou Xinbo Materials Technology Co.,Ltd. ("8 JH#R
AT RIRHE AR AR
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Relationship with the Group

A joint venture of the Group

An associate of the Group

A joint venture of the Group

A joint venture of the Group

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Company where the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person serve as
directors, supervisors or senior
managemeant

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by the ultimate controlling person

Controlled by the ultimate controlling person
Controlled by the controlling shareholder

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by the close relatives of the
uitimate controlling person

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by a director of the Company
Controlled by a director of the Company

Controlled by the chairman where he serves
as executive supervisor and director

Controlled by the uitimate controlling person

A joint venture of the Group
Controlled by a director of the Company

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by a director of the Company

Contrelled by the close relatives of the
ultimate controlling person

Controlled by a director of the Company



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{p)  In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the Financial information, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the Relevant Periods:

Revenue from goods
and services (note i)

PT CNGR Ding Xing
New Energy

COBCO S A,

POSCO CNGR Nickel

Solution Co., Ltd

Hunan Zhongwei New
Silver Materials
Technology Co., Ltd.

Guizhou Xinbo

Materials Technology

Co.,Ltd.

Hunan Zhongwei New
Platinum Materials
Technology Co., Ltd.

PT HengSheng

NewEnergy Material

Indonesia

Hunan Zhongxian
Intelligent Technology
Co., Ltd.

Total

Purchase of goods
and services (note
i)

PT CNGR Ding Xing
New Energy

PT. Sultra Sarana Bumi

PT HengSheng

NewEnergy Material

indonesia

Honglin Construction
and Engineering
Group Co., Ltd.

PT Satya Amerta

Havenport

Hunan Juntai Fire
Testing Co., Ltd.

Hunan Zhongxian
Intelligent Technology
Co., Ltd.

Six months ended 30

Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
- 66,327 810,585 310,445 1,018,432
- - 72,839 - 125,282
- - - - 11,012
- 1,898 3,169 879 1,423
- - - 4
- 40 - - -
- 30,022 27,420 10,925 -
- 44 - - -
- 98,331 1,014,013 322248 1,154,153
- 171,236 2,713,178 1,455,137 1,455,893
- - 126,816 - 130,168
- - 194,611 - 112,214
- 78,661 254,718 168,718 53,565
- - - . 30,593
493 874 16,300 52 511
104,994 955 22,0086 550 309
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATICN (continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b}  In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the Financial information, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the Relevant Periods: (continued)

Six months ended 30

Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Guiyang Zhongwei
Yunda Technology
Co., Ltd. - - - - 220
Hunan Zhongwei
Testing Technology
Co., Ltd. - - - - 170
Hunan Yaspace
Property
Management Co.,
Ltd. 53 170 177 1,050 93

Guizhou Qiheng

Transportation Co.,

Lid. 396 1,000 2,666 69 41
Hunan Hanhua Jingdian

Clean Energy

Technology Co., Ltd. 35,556 16,333 90 - 22
Jiangsu Haishi Pump

Industry

Manufacturing Co.,

Ltd. 3,394 208 - - -
Dalong Longsheng

Grand Hotel 41 1 - - -
Hunan Weichu Fruit

Juice & Wine Co,,

Ltd. 6 - - - -

Total 144,933 269,236 3,330,662 1,623,576 1,783,800
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42,  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b} In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the Financial information, the Group had the
following transactions with related parties during the Relevant Periods: (continued)

Six months ended 30

Year ended 31 December June
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Rental income (note
i)
PT CNGR Ding Xing
New Energy - - 10,349 - 13,585
Hunan Zhongwei New
Silver Materials
Technology Co., Ltd. - 515 2,431 664 863
Hunan Zhongwei
Jinneng New
Materials Co., Ltd. - 101 676 167 240

Hunan Zhongwei New

Platinum Materials

Technology Co,, Ltd. - 22 252 40 165
Hunan Zhongwei New

Hydrogen Materials

Technology Co., Ltd. - - 44 - 93
Hunan Zhongxian

Intelligent Technology

Co,, Lid. - - 14 - -

Total - 538 13,766 871 14,956

Rental payment (note

i)
Hunan Yaspace

Property

Management Co.,

Ltd. - - 1,155 - 233
Guizhou Zhongwei

Investment Group

Co,, Ltd. - - 819 - -

Total - - 1,874 - 233

(i) The sales to the related parties were made according to the published prices and conditions offered
to the major customers of the Group. The credit terms granted to the related parties were generally
in line with the credit terms granted to other customers.

(i} The purchases from the related parties were made according to the published prices and conditions
offered by the related parties to their major customers. The credit terms granted by the related parties
were generally in line with the credit terms granted to their major customers.

{iiiy The rental fees with the related parties were made according to the agreed prices.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Details of guarantees from the related parties:

The Group as the guarantor:

31 December 2023

RMB'000 Effective Date Expiry Date Fulfilled
3 years after the
PT CNGR Ding Xing New date of
Energy 910,000 2023 dissolution No
31 December 2024
RMB'000 Effective Date Expiry Date Fulfilled
3 years after the
PT CNGR Ding Xing New date of
Energy 934,492 2023 dissolution No
30 June 2025
RMB'000 Effective Date Expiry Date Fulfilled
3 years after the
PT CNGR Ding Xing New date of
Energy 752,440 2023 dissolution No
The Group as the secured party:
31 December 2022
RMB'000 Effective pericd Fulfilled
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 485,000 2021-2023 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 700,000 2022-2023 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,400,000 2022-2024 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,380,000 2022-2025 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng
Weiming. Ms. Wu Xiaoge 2,560,000 2022-2023 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng
Weiming. Ms. Wu Xiaoge 2,507,000 2022-2025 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. 485,000 2021-2023 No
Total 9,517,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{c) Details of guarantees to the related parties: (continued)

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms, Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xlaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng
Weiming. Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr, Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiacge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Lid.

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd.

Total

31 December 2023

RMB'000

1,278,100
764,652
2,140,000
1,290,000
1,530,000
3,234,000
5,504,479
40,000
2,510,000
300,000

270,000

300,000

400,000

2,888,000
860,000

500,000

23,811,231
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Effective period

2020-2025
2020-2028
2022-2023
2022-2024
2022-2025
2022-2030
2023-2024
2023-2025
2023-2026
2023-2027

2023-2028

2022-2024

2023-2025

2023-2028
2021-2026

2023-2026

Fulfilled

No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No
No

No

No

No

No
No

No



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {continued)
(¢) Details of guarantees to the related parties: (continued)

31 December 2024

RMB’'000 Effective period Fulfilled
Guarantor
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,279,100 2020-2025 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 920,000 2020-2028 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,150,000 2021-2026 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms, Wu
Xiaoge 2,290,000 2022-2024 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 2,322,000 2022-2025 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 780,000 2022-2025 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,647,000 2022-2027 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,200,000 2022-2028 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 3,321,041 2022-2030 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 5,404,479 2023-2024 Yes
Mr, Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 40,000 2023-2025 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 600,000 2023-2026 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 4,280,000 2023-2028 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 300,000 2023-2027 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms, Wu
Xiaoge 270,000 2023-2028 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 2,800,000 2024-2025 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,000,000 2024-2027 No
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{¢c) Details of guarantees to the related parties: (continued)

Guarantor

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd.

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd.

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Helding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. , Mr, Deng Weiming,
Ms. Wu Xiaoge

Total

31 December 2024

RMB'000

473,147

500,000

1,000,000

860,000

400,000

1,000,000

1,700,000

500,000

2,889,000

350,000

39,275,767
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Effective periocd

2023-3 years after
the date of
dissolution
2023-2026
2021-2024
2021-2026
2022-2025
2022-2027
2022-2027
2023-2024

2023-2028

2024-2027

Fulfilled

No

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

No

Yes

No

No



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS {continued)
(c)  Details of guarantees to the related parties: (continued)

30 June 2025

RMB’000 Effective period Fulfilled
Guarantor
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,279,100 2020-2025 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 920,000 2020-2028 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,150,000 2021-20286 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 2,322,000 2022-2025 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,200,000 2022-2028 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 3,321,041 2022-2030 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 2,880,000 2023-2026 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,200,000 2023-2026 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 300,000 2023-2027 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 1,300,000 2024-2025 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 400,000 2024-2025 Yes
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 200,000 2024-2027 No
Mr. Deng Weiming, Ms. Wu
Xiaoge 400,000 2024-2029 No

Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co,, Ltd. , Mr, Deng Weiming,

Ms. Wu Xiaoge 1,700,000 2022-2027 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co,, Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,

Ms. Wu Xiaoge 1,000,000 2022-2027 Yes
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Ltd. , Mr. Deng Weiming,

Ms. Wu Xiaoge 350,000 2024-2027 Yes
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group
Co., Ltd. 860,000 2021-2026 No
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Details of guarantees to the related parties: (continued)

30 June 2025
RMB'000 Effective period Fuifilled

Guarantor
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Ltd. 1,180,000 2022-2025 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Ltd. 1,647,000 2022-2027 - No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Lid. 40,000 2023-2025 Yes
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., L{d. 1,300,000 2023-2026 No
Hunan Zhongwei Helding Group

Co., Ltd. 3,159,000 2023-2028 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Ltd. 1,100,000 2024-2025 No
Hunan Zhongwei Holding Group

Co., Ltd. 800,000 2024-2027 No
Total 30,008,141

The guarantees provided by related parties is not expected to be fully released before listing, while the
Group intends to gradually reduce the amount of [oans guaranteed by related parties in the future.

(d) Loans to joint ventures and associates

2023
Amount Start date End date
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 177,068 2023/4117 2024/4/16
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 127,489 2023/7M13 2024/7M12
PT Transcoal Minergy 74,062 202317131 2024/7/30
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 49,579 2023/6/8 2024/6/7
PT HengSheng New Energy
Materia! Indonesia 42,750 2023/12131 2024/12/30
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 32,818 2023/12/31 2024112130
PT Transcoal Minergy 14,420 2023/11/28 2024/11/27
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d) Loans to joint ventures and associates (continued)

2024
Amount Start date End date
PT Transcoal Minergy 100,937 2024/11/25 2025/11/24
PT Transceal Minergy 95,806 20241715 2025/7/15
PT Transcoal Minergy 78,679 2024/422 2025/4/22
PT Transcoal Mingrgy 50,840 2024111 2025111
PT Transcoal Minergy 45223 20241217 2025/2/6
PT Transcoal Minergy 37,747 2024/1/26 2025/1/25
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 33,825 2024/5/16 2025/5/16
PT Transcoal Minergy 28,754 2024/12113 2025M2/12
PT Transcoal Minergy 22,284 2024/12/30 2025M12/29
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 14,744 20241111 2024/12/31
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material indonesia 10,063 2024/5/30 2025/5/29
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 4,768 2024/5/29 2025/5/28
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 29 20241712 2025712
Six months ended 30 June 2025
Amount Start date End date
COBCO SA. 109,672 2025/3/10 2026/3/9
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 108,652 2025/4117 2027/4/16
COBCO S.A. 108,568 2025/5/1 2026/4/30
PT Transcoal Minergy 103,379 2024/11/25 2025M1/24
PT Transcoal Minergy 97,907 2024/7/15 20257115
PT Transceoal Minergy 84,971 2025/4115 2026/4/14
PT Transcoal Minergy 63,509 2025/4/17 2026/4116
PT Transcoal Minergy 52,168 20241111 2025111
PT Transcoal Minergy 50,240 2025/6/18 202616117
PT Transcoal Minergy 39,597 2025/3M4 2026/3/13
PT Transcoal Minergy 38,936 2025/3/28 2026/3/27
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 32,857 2025/6/30 2026/6/29
PT Transcoal Minergy 30,082 2025/1/20 2026119
PT Transcoal Minergy 29,568 2024112113 2025/12/12
PT Transcoal Minergy 29,472 2025/3/31 2026/3/31
PT Transcoal Minergy 22,826 2024/12/30 2025/12/29
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 19,705 2025/5/15 2026/5/14
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia 3,905 2025/5/15 2026/5/14
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy 481 2025/1/24 2026/1/23

159



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42,

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
() Commitments with related parties

In 2022, CNGR Heng Kong Material Science & Technology Co., Limited, (hereinafter referred to as the
‘CNGR (Hong Kong)} and Rigqueza International Pte. Lid. (hereinafter referred fo as the
"RIGQUEZA" signed an agreement to jointly invest in refined nickel project to mine the development
of 50,000 tons per year, and the two parties set up PT. CNGR Ding Xing New Energy (hereinafter
referred to as the “Joint Venture Company™) in Indonesia to implement the project. The registered
capital of the Joint Venture Company is USD1 million, with each party holding 50% of the shares. The -
agreement also stipulates that CNGR (Hong Kong) and RIGQUEZA shall be obliged to purchase goods
produced by the Joint Venture Company under the same conditions as the market price and in
accordance with the proportion of their respective shareholdings in the Joint Venture Company. The
Joint Venture Company is obliged to prioritize sales to the shareholder parties and the terms of sales
to the shareholder parties should be consistent.

On April 23, 2024, the Company passed the proposal on providing financial assistance to its associates
and joint ventures:

The Company would provide a loan of up to US$25 million to PT.CNGR DING XING NEW ENERGY
based on the shareholding of 50% for one year, The interest rate of the loan is determined based on
the CME TERM SOFR1 (3 months) plus 250 BPS as of the date of the actual remittance of the
shareholder’s loan;

The Company would provide PT Transcoal Minergy with a loan of up to US$31.22 million based on the
shareholding of 36% for one year. The interest rate of the loan is determined based on the CME TERM
SOFR1 (12 months) as of the date of the actual remittance of the shareholder's loan;

The Company would provide PT HengSheng New Energy Material Indonesia for a loan of not more
than US$1.5 million based on the shareholding of 15% for one year, with an interest rate of not less
than 3.65%;

The Company would provide PT Satya Amerta Havenport with a loan of not more than US$1.5 million
based on the shareholding of 34% for one year, a loan of not more than US$20 million or its equivalent
RMB amount, with a term of one year and an interest rate of 7%,

The above amount can be utilized on a revolving and rolling basis within the validity period of the
agreement.

On November 27, 2024, the Company proposed to provide financial assistance to the foint venture
COBCQ:S.A. in the form of borrowings of up to US$90 million, with a term of up {0 12 months and an
annual interest rate of CME TERM SOFR(1 month)1+2.5 per annum.

On February 12, 2025, the Company approved to provide financial support to its associates and joint
ventures to ensure normal operations and accelerate the integrated industrial chain development. The
shareholders agreed to provide funding proportionally as follows:

The Company would provide PT CNGR Ding Xing New Energy with a loan of up to US$120 million
based on its 50% shareholding for one year. The interest rate of the loan is determined based on the
CME TERM SOFR (3 months) plus 80BPS as of the date of the actual remittance of the shareholder's
loan.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

42.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

{e) Commitments with related parties (continued)

The Company would provide PT Transcoal Minergy with a loan of up to US$140 million based on its
36% shareholding for one year. The interest rate of the loan is determined based on the CME TERM
SOFR (3 months) plus 125BPS as of the date of the actual remittance of the shareholder's loan.

The Company would provide PT HengSheng New Energy Material Indonesia with a loan of not more
than US$18 million based on its 15% shareholding for one year, with an interest rate of not less than
10% {currency neutral).

The Company would provide PT Satya Amerta Havenport with a loan of not more than US$10 million
or its equivalent RMB amount based on its 34% shareholding for one year, with an interest rate of not
more than 6%. The above amounts can be utilized on a revolving and rolling basis within the validity
period of the agreement.

On May 21, 2025, the Company passed the propasal on providing financial assistance to its associates
and joint ventures:

The Company would provide PT HengSheng Indonesia with a loan of not more than US$18 million or
its equivalent RMB amount based on the shareholding of 15% for one year, with an interest rate of not
more than 10% {currency neutral);

The Company would provide PT. Stardust Estate Investment with a loan of not more than US$5 million
based on the shareholding of 20% for one year, with an interest rate of not more than 7%;

The above amount can be utilized on a revolving and rolling basis within one year after approval by the
shareholders' meeting.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

() Outstanding balances with related parties

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade and bills receivables
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy - 27,5678 65,259 246,265
COBCO S.A. - - - 125,480
POSCO CNGR Nickel
Solution Co., Ltd - - - 8,469
Hunan Zhongwei New
Silver Materials
Technology Co., Ltd. - 198 206 1,670
Hunan Zhongwei Jinneng
New Materials Co., Ltd. - 57 340 263

Hunan Zhongwei New

Platinum Materials

Technology Co., Ltd. - 57 223 226
Hunan Zhongwei New

Hydrogen Materials

Technology Co., Ltd. - - 48 102
PT HengSheng

NewEnergy Material

Indonesia - 4787 1,517 -
Impairment - (327) (1,082) (7,263)
Total - 32,350 67,211 375,212
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(i OQutstanding balances with related parties

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Prepayments,deposits and
other receivables
PT Transcoal Minergy - 88,482 460,269 642,656
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy - 732,656 384,705 530,601
COBCO S.A - - - 225,785
PT Sultra Sarana Bumi - - 50,862 69,050
PT HengSheng
NewEnergy Material
Indonesia - 75,568 88,152 56,567
Hunan Yaspace Property
Management Co., Ltd. - - - 252
Hunan Zhongwei New
Silver Materials
Technology Co., Ltd. - - 301 43
Guizhou Qiheng
Transportation Co., Lid. - 1 - -
Hunan Zhongxian
Intelligent Technology
Co., Ltd. - - 12,677 -
Guiyang Zhongwei Yunda
Technology Co., Ltd. - - 248 -
Impairment - {19,916) (19,696) (32,133)
Total - 876,791 977,518 1,492,821

* Amount less than RMB1,000.

163



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

) Outstanding balances with related parties {continued)

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Other non-current assets
Hunan Yuening Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. - - 56,189 90,984
Hunan Zhongxian Intelligent
Technology Co., Ltd. 352 760 2,638 22,768
Hunan Hanhua Jingdian
Clean Energy Technology
Co., Ltd. 561 562 562 562
Hunan Mingiang Engineering
Co., Ltd. 176 176 176 176
Honglin Construction
Engineering Group Co., Ltd. - 36,793 - -
Impairment - - - -
Total 1,089 38,291 59,565 114,490
Trade payables
Honglin Construction and
Engineering Group Co., Lid. 18,154 24,924 51,381 42,946
PT Satya Amerta Havenport - - - 5,393
Hunan Yaspace Property
Management Co., Ltd. - - 3,149 3,131
PT HengSheng New Energy
Material Indonesia - - - 2,381
Hunan Hanhua Jingdian
Clean Energy Technology
Co., Ltd. 9,073 3,379 2,857 2,342
Hunan Mingiang Engineering
Co., Ltd. 1,010 1,010 1,010 1,010
Hunan Zhongxian Intelligent
Technology Cao., Lid. 21,176 9,389 - 615
PT CNGR Ding Xing New
Energy - - - 483
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

f) Outstanding balances with related parties (continued)

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Hunan Juntai Fire Testing
Co., Lid. - - 620 384
Guizhou Qiheng
Transportation Co., Ltd. 135 125 170 164
Jiangsu Haishi Purmp Industry 1,400 294 204 -
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
Hunan Juntai Fire Testing
Co., Ltd. 38 - 620 -
Total 50,986 39,121 60,101 58,829
Cther payables and accruals
Honglin Construction and
Engineering Group Co., Ltd. 75 75 1,437 2,059
Hunan Yaspace Property
Management Co., Ltd. - - 163 333
Hunan Hanhua Jingdian
Clean Energy Technology
Co., Lid, 3 3 3 133
Hunan Zhongxian Intelligent - - - 200
Technology Co., Ltd.
PT. Sultra Sarana Bumi - - - 4
Guizhou Qiheng
Transportation Co., Ltd. 201 204 12 1
Hunan Juntai Fire Testing
Co., Ltd. - - 450 -
Total 279 282 2,065 2,729

Contract liabilities
PT Hengsheng New Energy

Material Indonesia - - - 15,612
Hunan Zhongwei New Silver

Materials Technology Co.,

Lid, - 1,001 2,578 1,841
PT CNGR Ding Xing New

Energy - - 72,247 -
Total - 1,001 74,825 17,453

* Amount less than RMB1,000,

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables are partly utilized for loans to joint ventures and
associates, a breakdown of which is provided in note 42 (d), which is non-trade in nature.
Remaining trade and bills receivables at amortized cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, prepayments, deposits and other receivables, other non-current assets,
trade payables, contract liabilities and other payables and accruals were trade in nature,
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
42.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(g) Compensaticn of key management personnel of the Group:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Short term employee
benefits 6,154 11,644 11,285 5,228
Post-employment benefits 5,288 8,892 10,689 2,921
Equity-seitled share
option expense 7,221 12,055 17,438 770
Total compensation paid
to key management
perscnnel 18,663 32,591 39,412 8,919

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's emoluments are included in note 8 to the
Financial information.

43. COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of each of the Relevant Periods:

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Capital commitments 2,435,503 2,545,060 1,122,966 2,894 208
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of each of the Relevant
Periods were as follows:

As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

Equity
investments at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

Trade and bills
receivables

Financial assets
included in
deposits and
other
receivables

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
or loss

Derivative
financial
instruments

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash
equivalents

Total

Financial
assets at fair
value through

other Financial
Financial assets at fair value  comprehensive assefs at
through profit or loss income  amortised cost Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 497 669 - 497,669
- 198,074 4.879,378 5,077,452
- - 103,245 103,245
300,000 - - 300,000
4,247 - - 4,247
- - 2,269,615 2,269,615
- - 12,979,249 12,979,249
304,247 895,743 20,230,736 21,231,477
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

44,  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of each of the Relevant

Periods were as follows: {continued)
As at 31 December 2022 (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at
fair value through

Financial liabilities at

profit or loss amortised cost Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Trade and bills payables - 8,722,938 8,722,936
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals - 827,364 627,364
Derivative financial instruments 459,526 - 459,526
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings - 19,834,271 19,934,271
Bonds payable - 1,687,387 1,687,387
Other non-current liabilities - 825,868 825,868
Total 459 526 31,797,826 32,257,352
As at 31 December 2023
Financial assets
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
at fair value through other
through profit or comprehensive
loss income
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated as Equity amortised
such investments cost Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income - 836,989 - 836,989
Trade and bills receivables - 1,035,549 4,104,289 5,139,838
Financial assets included in
deposits and other receivables - - 696,639 696,639
Derivative financial instruments 122,462 - - 122,462
Pledged deposits - - 1,041,977 1,041,977
Cash and cash equivalents - - 10,397,466 10,397,466
Total 122,462 1,872,638 16,240,371 18,235,371
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY {(continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of each of the Relevant

Periods were as follows: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023 (continued)

Financial liabilities

Bonds payable

Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals

Derivative financial instruments

Financial
liabilities

at fair value
through profit or

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

Other non-current liabilities

Total

As at 31 December 2024

Financial assets

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or foss

Financial assets included in deposits
and other receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

loss

Financial liabilities at

Held for trading amortised cost Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 1,720,373 1,720,373
- 8,593,538 8,593,538
- 842,977 842,977
1,655 - 1,655
- 20,193,132 20,193,132
- 1,405,689 1,405,689
1,655 32,755,709 32,757,364
Financial assets at
Financial assets fair value through
at fair value other
through profit or comprehensive
loss income
Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated as amortised
such  Equity investments cost Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0C0 RMB'000
- 521,960 - 521,960
- 453,533 4,652,279 5,105,812
2,040,154 - - 2,040,154
- - 712,175 712,175
148,554 - - 148,554
- - 1,105,032 1,105,032
- - 10,083,956 10,083,956
2,188,708 975,493 16,553,442 19,717,643
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of each of the Relevant
Periods were as follows; (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 (continued)

Financial liabilities

Bonds payable
Convertible bonds
Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals

Derivative financial instruments
Interest-bearing bank borrowings

Other non-current liabilities
Total

As at 30 June 2025

Financial assets

Equity investments at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Trade and bills receivables

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss

Financial assets included in
deposits and other
recelvables (note 22)

Derivative financial
instruments

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss

Total

Financial
liabilities at
Held for trading amortised cost Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 1,749,841 1,749,841
- 99,010 99,010
- 10,249,416 10,249,416
- 984,756 984,756
100,497 - 100,497
- 26,326,724 26,326,724
- 2,039,501 2,038,501
100,497 41,449,248 41,548,745
Financial assets at
fair value through
Financial assefs at other
fair value through comprehensive
profit or loss income
Mandatorily
designated as Equity Financial assets at
such investments amortised cost Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'00C RMB'000
- 571,267 - 571,267
- 248,806 5,410,603 5,659,409
1,161,019 - - 1,161,019
- - 1,170,420 1,170,420
133,275 - - 133,275
- - 900,791 900,791
- - 9,645,273 9,645,273
1,294,204 820,073 17,127,087 19,241,454
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments at the end of each of the Relevant

Pericds were as follows: (continued)
As at 30 June 2025 (continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at
fair value through

Financial liabilities at

profit or loss amortised cost Total
Held for trading ,

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Bonds payable - 1,744,442 1,744,442

Convertible bonds - 125,663 125,663

Trade and bills payables - 13,100,673 13,100,673
Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals - 1,070,867 1,070,867

Derivative financial instruments 15,539 - 15,539

Interest-bearing bank

horrowings - 26,141,213 26,141,213

Other non-current liabilities - 1,726,776 1,726,778

Total 15,539 43,909,634 43,925,173

Transfers of financial assets
Financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety

Factoring frade receivables

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the Group has entered into certain receivable
purchase agreements with financial institutions for the factering of trade receivables due from certain
specified customers with an aggregate carrying amount of nil, RMB21,500,000 and nil, and nil, In the
opinion of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the
factored trade receivables. Accordingly, it has derecognized the full carrying amounts of the factored
trade receivables.

During the Relevant Pericds, expenses of nil, RMB4,108,000, RMBS5,392,000 and RMB3,000 were
recognized on the date of transfer of the factored trade receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued})

44,

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

Transfers of financial assets {continued)

Financial assets that are derecognized in their entirety (continued)

Bifls endorsed or discounted

At 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the Group, endorsed certain bills receivable
accepted by banks in Mainland China to certain of its suppliers in order to settle the trade payables due
to such suppliers, and discounted certain bills receivables to banks in Mainland China, (together, the
"Derecognized Bills") with carrying amounts in aggregate of RMB6,367,960,000, RMB3,767,121,000
and RMB4,148,401,000, and RMB5,004,919,000.The Derecognized Bills had a maturity of one to ten
months at the end of the reporting period. In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments in the
PRC, the holders of the Derecognized Bills may exercise the right of recourse against any, several or all
of the persons liable for the Derecognized Bills, including the Group, in disregard of the order of
precedence (the “Continuing Involvement"). In the opinion of the directors, the risk of the Group being
claimed by the holders of the Derecognized Bills is remote in the absence of a default of the accepted
banks. The Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognized Bills.
Accordingly, it has derecognized the full carrying amounts of the Derecognized Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's Continuing Involvement in the
Derecognized Bills and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these Dergcognized Bills is equal to
their carrying amounts. In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group's Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognized Bills are not significant.

During the Relevant Periods, expenses RMB80,354,000, RMB59,292,000 and RMB80,087,000, and
RMB68,900,000 were recognized on the dates of transfer of the Derecognized Bills. No gains or losses
were recognized from the Continuing Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively.

Financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety

Bills endorsed

At 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025, the Group theendorsed and discounted certain
bills receivable accepted by banks in Mainland China (the "Endorsed Bilis"} with carrying amounts of
RMB188,684,000, RMB201,437,000, RMB263,907,000 and RMB459,651,000 to certain of its suppliers
in order to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers (the "Endorsement”). [n the opinion of the
directors, the Group has retained the substantial risks and rewards, which include default risks relating
to such Endorsed Bills, and accordingly, it continued to recognize the full carrying amounts of the
Endorsed Bills and the associated trade payables settled. Subsequent to the Endorsement, the Group
did not retain any rights on the use of the Endorsed Bills, including the sale, transfer or pledge of the
Endorsed Bills to any other third parties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, trade payables,
other liabilities, and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments,

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments including interest-bearing bank borrowings
and bonds payable at amortized cost were not materially different from their fair values as at December
31, 2022, 2023, 2024 and 30 June 2025,

The finance manager of each subsidiary of the Group is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The Group’s finance manager
reports directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyzes the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial officer. The
valuation process and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and bond
payable have been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own nen-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at the end of each of the Relevant Periods were assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth management products issued by
banks in Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted investments by using
the market approach based on the market interest rates of instruments with similar terms.

The financial instruments in bills receivables are the bank acceptance bills registered by the acceptance
bank with high credit, and the group's management model aims at both collecting the contractual cash
flow and selling the financial assets. There were no significant uncbservable inputs to the valuation of
financial instruments as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

45.  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value;

As at 31 December 2022

Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Trade and bills receivables

Derivative financial instruments

Total

Fair value measurement using

Quoted

prices Significant Significant
in active observable Unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- 497,669 - 497 669
- 300,000 - 300,000
- 198,074 - 198,074
4,247 - - 4,247
4,247 995,743 - 999,990
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION {continued)

45.  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 December 2023

Fair value measurement using

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  Unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0Q0 RMB'000
Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income 456,768 380,221 - 836,989
Trade and bills receivables - 1,035,549 - 1,035,549
Derivative financial instruments 122,462 - - 122,462
Total 579,230 1,415,770 - 1,995,000
As at 31 December 2024
Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices Significant  Significant unc
in active observable bservable
markets inputs inputs
Leve| 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMEBE'000 RMB'000
Equity investments designated at
fair value through other
comprehensive income 521,960 - - 521,960
Trade and bills receivables - 453,533 - 453,533
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 1,282 2,038,872 - 2,040,154
Derivative financial instruments 148,554 - - 148,554
Total 671,796 2,492,405 - 3,164,201
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

45.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 30 June 2025

Fair value measurement using

Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Equity investments
designated at fair
value through other
comprehensive income 571,267 - - 571,267
Trade and bills
receivables - 248,808 - 248,806
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss 2,244 1,158,775 - 1,161,019
Derivative financial
instruments 77,423 55,852 - 133,275
Total 650,934 1,463,433 - 2,114,367
Liabilities measured at fair value:
As at 31 December 2022
Fair value measurement using
Significant Significant
Asat31 Quoted prices in observable uncbservable
December active markets inputs inputs
2,022 Level 1 Level 2 Level3
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Derivative financial
instruments 459,526 459 526 - -
As at 31 December 2023
Fair value measurement using
Significant Significant
Asat31 Quoted prices in observable unchservable
December active markets inputs inputs
2,023 Level 1 Level 2 Level3
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Derivative financial
instruments 1,655 1,655 - -




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) _
45.  FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy {continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value: (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Fair value measurement using

Significant Significant

Asat31 Quoted prices in observable unobservable

December active markets inputs inputs

2,024 Level 1 Level 2 Level3

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Derivative financial :

instruments 100,497 3,159 97,338 -

As at 30 June 2025

Fair value measurement using

Significant Significant

Quoted prices in cbservable unohservable

As at 30 June active markets inputs inputs

2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level3

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Derivative financial
instruments 15,539 15,639 - -

The Group's classification of other equity instruments within the fair value hierarchy is determined by the
existence of sales restrictions (lock-up periods). During 2022, all such instruments were classified as
Level 2 due to ongoing trading restrictions, as their fair values required the use of observable inputs
other than quoted prices. In 2023, a portion of these instruments became freely tradable upon the expiry
of lock-up periods, enabling their reclassification from Level 2 to Level 1 where active market prices were
available, while the remaining instruments continued to be classified as Level 2 as they remained subject
to lock-up arrangements. By 2024, all sales restrictions had been lifted, resulting in the entire balance
being classified within Level 1. There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 in 2022 or 2024,
and no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the three-year period. Transfers between hierarchy levels
are recognized at the end of the reporting period in which the restrictions lapse.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

46,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, other liabilities, and cash and time
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are credit risk, forgign currency risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarized below.

Foreign currency risk

Increase/!
Increassf (decreasa) Inereasef
Increasef (decrease) {decrease) in other comprehensive (decrease)
In US$/RMB rate in profit after tax income in equity
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB$'000
Six months ended 30 June 2025
If the RMB weakens agalinst the USD 5 {152.891) 5,652 (147,339)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD 5 152,991 (5.652) 147,339
If the RMB weakens against the DR 5 54,087 - 54,087
If the RMB strengthens against the IR 5 (54,087) - (54,087)
If the RMB weakens against the KRW 5 764 - 764
If tha RMB strengthens against the KRW 5 (764) - (764)
if the RMB weakens against the EUR 5 4,308 - 4,308
If ihe RME sirengthens against the EUR 5 (4,308) - {4,308)
2024
if the RME weakens against the USD 5 (375,011) 1,730 (373.281)
If ihe RMB strengthens against the USD 5 375,011 (1,730) 373,281
If the RMB weakens against the IDR 5 9,778 - 0,778
It the RMB sirengthens against the IDR 5 (9,778) - {8,778)
If the RMB weakens against the KRW 5 4,346 - 4,246
If the RME sirengthens against the KRW 5 (4,348) - {4,348)
If the RMB weakens against the EUR 5 928 - 928
If the RMB sirengthens against \he EUR 5 (928) - (928)
2023
If the RMB weakens against the USD 5 (165,95%) 3,588 (162,363)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD 5 165,951 (3,588) 162,363
If the RMB weakens against the IDR 5 (19,743) - (19,743)
1f the RMB sirengthens agalnst the IDR 5 18,743 - 19,743
If the RMB weakens against the KRW 5 3,869 - 3,869
If the RMB strengthens against the KRW 5 (3,869) - (3.869)
If the RMBE weakens against the EUR 5 1,378 - 1,379
If the RMB strengthens agalnst the EUR ] (1.378) - (1,379)
2022
If the RMB weakens against the USD 5 (167,435) 4.082 {163,346)
If the RMB strengthens agalnst tha USD 5 167,435 (4,089} 163,248
If the RMB weakens against the IDR 5 821 - 821
If the RMB strengthens against the IDR 5 (821) - (821)
If the RMB weakens against the EUR 5 1,657 - 1,557
If the RMB strengthens against the EUR 5 1,557} - (1,557)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

48.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all
customers who wish to trade con credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant operating
unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk

for the financial guarantee contracts.

As at 31 December 2022

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
Trade receivables* - - - 4,491,262 4,491,262
Bills receivables - - - 641,264 641,264
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other
receivables and other
assels
- Normal** 107,935 - - - 107,935
Pledged deposits
- Not yef past due 2,269,615 - - - 2,269,615
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due 12,979,249 - - - 12,979,248
Total 15,356,799 - - 5,132,526 20,489,325
As at 31 December 2023
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'060 RMB'000 RMB'000
Trade receivables* - - - 3,797,813 3,797,813
Bills receivables - - - 1,386,945 1,386,945
Financial assets included in
prepayments, other
receivables and other assets
- Normal** 728,157 - - - 728,157
Pledged deposits
- Not yet past due 1,041,977 - - - 1,041,977
Cash and cash equivalents
- Not yet past due 10,397,466 - - - 10,397,466
Total 12,167,600 - - 5,184,758 17,352,358
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk(continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Trade receivables*
Bills receivables
Financial assets included
in prepayments, other
receivables and other
assets
- Normal**
Pledged deposits
- Not yet past due
Cash and cash
equivalents
- Not yet past due

Total

As at 30 June 2025

Trade receivables*
Bills receivables
Financial assets included
in prepayments, other
receivables and other
assets
- Normal**
Pledged deposits
- Not yet past due
Cash and cash
equivalents
- Not yet past due

Total

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified a
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 pproach Total
RMB’00G0 RMB'000 RMB'0GO RMB’000 RMB'000
- - - 4,384,307 4,384,307
- - - 773,085 773,085
750,883 - - - 750,963
1,105,032 - - - 1,105,032
10,083,956 - - - 10,083,956
11,939,951 - - 5,157,392 17,097,343
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
- - - 5,241,214 5241214
- - - 480,170 490,170
1,225,096 - - - 1,225,096
900,791 - - - 900,791
9,645,273 - - - 8,645,273
11,771,160 - - 5,731,384 17,502,544

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the Financial information.
The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other assets
is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit
guality of the financial assets is considered to be "doubtful”.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
48. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables
are disclosed in note 24 to the Financial information.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer and geographical region. As at 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024, and 30 June 2025, the Group had concentrations of credit risk as 72.11%, 57.93%
and 44.46%, and 43.74% of the Group’s trade receivables were due from the Group's five largest
customers.

Liguidity risk

The Group monitors its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring the current ratio, which is calculated by
comparing the current assets with the current liabilities.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of interest-bearing loans. The Group’s policy is that all the borrowings should be approved by the
chief financial officer.

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the end of each
reporting period based on contractual undiscounted payments:

31 December 2022

Within cne
year or on
demand 110 5 years Over 5 years Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Interest-bearing bank
borrowings 7,917,904 12,080,121 1,518,605 21,526,630
Derivative financial
instruments 459,526 - - 459,526
Trade and bills payables 8,722,936 - - 8,722,936
Financial liabilities include in
other payables and accruals 627,364 - - 627,364
Bonds payable 87,266 1,893,570 - 1,980,836
Lease liabilities 18,596 8,911 - 27,507
Other non-current liabilities 47,862 858,188 - 905,850
Total 17,881,254 14,850,790 1,518,605 34,250,649
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATICN (continued)

46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)}

31 December 2023

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings

Derivative financial
instruments

Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities include in
other payables and accruals

Bonds payable

Lease liabilities

Other non-current liabilities
Total

31 December 2024

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings

Derivative financial
instruments

Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities include in
other payables and accruals

Bonds payable

Convertible bonds

Lease liabilities

Other non-current liabilities

Total

Within one
year or on
demand 1to 5 years Over § years Total
RMEBE'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
6,948,222 13,747,334 738,144 21,433,700
1,655 - 1,655
8,593,538 - 8,593,538
842,977 - 842,977
88,006 1,821,608 1,909,612
10,101 9,730 19,831
65,704 1,394,177 1,459,881
16,550,203 16,972,847 738,144 34,261,194
Within one
year or on
demand 110 5 years Over 5 years Total
RMB'000 RM8’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
11,411,321 15,772,614 360,907 27,544,842
100,497 - - 100,497
10,249,416 - - 10,249,416
984,756 - - 984,756
1,096,446 767,901 - 1,864,347
- 182,426 - 182,426
19,297 27,564 - 46,861
8,575 2,039,501 - 2,048,076
23,870,308 18,790,006 360,907 43,021,223
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

46.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

30 June 2025

Interest-bearing bank
borrowings

Derivative financial
instruments

Trade and bills payables

Financial liabilities
include in other
payables and accruals

Bonds payable

Convertible bonds

Lease liabilities

Other non-current
liabilities

Total

Capital management

Within one year

or on demand 1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
11,412,305 15,897,052 266,858 27,576,215
15,539 - - 15,639
13,100,673 - - 13,100,673
1,070,867 - - 1,070,867
1,063,338 748,432 - 1,811,770

- 177,621 - 177,621

16,135 16,402 - 32,537
15,565 1,727,800 - 1,743,365
26,694,422 18,587,307 266,858 45,528,587

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit
prcfile and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital fo shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the Relevant Periods.

The Group monitors capital using the debt/asset ratio, which is total liahilities divided by total assets.
The debt-to-asset ratios as at the end of each cf the Relevant Periods were as follows:

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Total liabilities 33,358,781 34,087,273 43,406,612 45,264,510
Total assets 53,702,915 62,010,966 72,895,179 74,694,105
Debt-to-asset ratio 62% 55% 60% 61%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
47. EVENTS AFTER THE RELEVANT PERIODS
On September 10, 2025, the Company declared an interim dividend of RMB 2.80 (tax inclusive) per 10
shares, which was paid on October 10, 2025.
48. SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
No audited financial statements have been prepared by the Company, the Group or any of the
companies now comprising the Group in respect of any period subsequent to 30 June 2025.
49,  APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of the
Company on 7 November 2025,
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